

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com

### SciVerse ScienceDirect

### Journal of Prosthodontic Research

Journal of Prosthodontic Research 56 (2012) 229-248

Review

www.elsevier.com/locate/jpor

### Stem cells in dentistry – Part II: Clinical applications

# Hiroshi Egusa DDS, PhD<sup>a,\*</sup>, Wataru Sonoyama DDS, PhD<sup>b</sup>, Masahiro Nishimura DDS, PhD<sup>c</sup>, Ikiru Atsuta DDS, PhD<sup>d</sup>, Kentaro Akiyama DDS, PhD<sup>b</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Department of Fixed Prosthodontics, Osaka University Graduate School of Dentistry, 1-8 Yamadaoka, Suita, Osaka 565-0871, Japan

<sup>b</sup> Department of Oral Rehabilitation and Regenerative Medicine, Okayama University Graduate School of Medicine, Dentistry and Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2-5-1 Shikata-cho, Kita-ku, Okayama 700-8525, Japan

<sup>c</sup> Department of Prosthetic Dentistry, Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences, Nagasaki University, 1-7-1 Sakamoto, Nagasaki 852-8588, Japan

<sup>d</sup> Division of Oral Rehabilitation, Faculty of Dental Science, Kyushu University, 3-1-1 Maidashi, Higashi-ku, Fukuoka 812-8582, Japan

Received 20 September 2012; accepted 3 October 2012

#### Abstract

New technologies that facilitate solid alveolar ridge augmentation are receiving considerable attention in the field of prosthodontics because of the growing requirement for esthetic and functional reconstruction by dental implant treatments. Recently, several studies have demonstrated potential advantages for stem-cell-based therapies in regenerative treatments. Mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) are now an excellent candidate for tissue replacement therapies, and tissue engineering approaches and chair-side cellular grafting approaches using autologous MSCs represent the clinical state of the art for stem-cell-based alveolar bone regeneration. Basic studies have revealed that crosstalk between implanted donor cells and recipient immune cells plays a key role in determining clinical success that may involve the recently observed immunomodulatory properties of MSCs. Part II of this review first overviews progress in regenerative dentistry to consider the implications of the stem cell technology in dentistry and then highlights cutting-edge stem-cell-based alveolar bone regenerative therapies. Factors that affect stem-cell-based bone regeneration as related to the local immune response are then discussed. Additionally, pre-clinical stem cell studies for the regeneration of teeth and other oral organs as well as possible applications of MSC-based immunotherapy in dentistry are outlined. Finally, the marketing of stem cell technology in dental stem cell banks with a view toward future regenerative therapies is introduced.

Keywords: Bone regeneration; Immunotherapy; Implant dentistry; Stem cells; Tissue engineering; Tooth regeneration

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	230
2.	Progress in regenerative therapy in dentistry	230
	2.1. Scaffold-based tissue regeneration	231
	2.2. Tissue regeneration based on growth factor delivery	232
3.	Requirements of stem cells in regenerative therapy	233
	3.1. Alveolar bone augmentation	233
	3.2. Tooth regeneration	233
4.	Current status of stem-cell-based therapy	234
	4.1. Tissue engineering approach	234
	4.2. Chair-side cellular grafting approach	235
	4.3. Cell-sheet-based tissue regeneration	237
5.	Factors that influence stem cell-based regenerative therapy	238
	5.1. Survival of transplanted cells	238
	5.2. Pre-culture condition of the donor cells.	238
	5.3. Local immune responses to cellular grafting	239

1883-1958 © 2012 Japan Prosthodontic Society. Published by Elsevier Ireland. Open access under CC BY-NC-ND license. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jpor.2012.10.001

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author. Tel.: +81 6 6879 2946; fax: +81 6 6879 2947.

E-mail address: egu@dent.osaka-u.ac.jp (H. Egusa).

6.	Pre-clinical studies on complex oral tissue/organ regeneration						
	6.1. Tooth/root regeneration	240					
	6.2. Salivary gland regeneration	240					
	6.3. Mandible condyle regeneration.	241					
	6.4. Tongue regeneration	241					
7.	Cell-based immunotherapy using MSCs	241					
	7.1. Systemic delivery of BMSCs for immune-mediated diseases	241					
	7.2. Possible applications of the MSC-based immunotherapy in dentistry	241					
8.	Dental stem cell banking	242					
9.	Conclusion	242					
	Acknowledgements	243					
	References	243					

#### 1. Introduction

Stem cells play vital roles in the repair of every organ and tissue through their capacity for self-renewal and differentiation. Part I of this review outlines various stem cell sources in oral and maxillofacial tissues with regard to clinical availability and applications in dentistry [1]. The oral area is a rich and unique source of stem cells, and it is therefore important for dental clinicians and researchers to further characterize these cells to develop new and effective strategies for dental applications.

The focus of stem cell research in dentistry is the regeneration of missing oral tissues. In particular, the restoration of alveolar ridge height is a major concern to prosthodontists because bone defects that arise after tooth loss usually result in further horizontal and vertical bone loss [2], which limits the effectiveness of dental implants and other prosthodontic treatments [3]. Therefore, stem-cell-based regenerative technology is considered to represent a new frontier in prosthodontic medicine [4].

In tissue engineering, the important elements for tissue regeneration are not only stem cells but also biomaterial scaffolds (cell-instructive templates) and growth and differentiation factors (biologically active molecules) [5]. In this regard, conventional regenerative dentistry has already developed scaffold and growth factor technologies (see Section 2). To achieve efficient oral tissue regeneration, however, it is necessary to combine the existing material-based technologies and anticipated stem cell-based technologies. Therefore, a solid knowledge of biomaterials and growth factors is also necessary to create stem-cell-based strategies for oral tissue engineering.

Stem cell technology for regenerative therapies is already available, as mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) already have been introduced in the clinic for alveolar bone augmentation (see Section 4), relatively little is known about their *in vivo* biology. However, the translational utility of stem-cell-based technologies is still uncertain because the effectiveness of such approaches when compared with alreadyestablished regenerative techniques has not yet been properly evaluated, especially when considering their high cost and labor required. In addition, it is important to not overestimate the regenerative properties of stem cells, because most studies to date have not considered the negative effects of the host immune system on transplanted cells. Therefore, factors that affect stem-cell-based therapies in the donor and recipient need to be addressed before therapeutic effects can be realized (see Section 5).

In the field of prosthodontics, especially in the clinic, material-based reconstruction without major surgical procedures was the main approach to treatment; however, emerging stem cell technologies and the requirements of alveolar ridge augmentation associated with implant dentistry have expanded the clinical concept to include stem-cell-based regeneration (see Section 3.1). Stem cell technologies have even permitted dental scientists to imagine the development of bioengineered teeth to replace the patient's missing teeth (see Sections 3.2 and 6.1). Furthermore, "dental stem cell banking" is already on the market for possible future use in regenerative therapies (see Section 7). Thus, clinicians as well as researchers in the prosthodontic field should understand basic aspects of stem cells and the implications of stem cell technologies in the future of dentistry.

In this review, we first overview conventional material-based regenerative dentistry to consider the necessity of stem cells for further advances, and we then describe the current status of stem-cell-based therapies in dentistry. Challenging issues regarding the factors that affect stem-cell-based bone regeneration and that need to be addressed for the clinical success of stem-cell-based strategies are then addressed. Additionally, pre-clinical stem cell studies for complex oral tissue/organ engineering and cell-based immunotherapy using MSCs are outlined. Finally, the marketing of stem cell technology in dental stem cell banks is introduced.

#### 2. Progress in regenerative therapy in dentistry

In addition to the oro-maxillofacial reconstruction of tissues lost to trauma or cancer [6,7], the concept of regenerative dentistry has especially applied in the fields of periodontology and implantology [8,9] because periodontal disease is a common cause of alveolar bone and tooth loss that limits the ability of dental implants to restore the periodontal anatomy or missing teeth. This section discusses the progress in regenerative therapies related to periodontal tissue and alveolar bone (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Progress in regenerative periodontal/bone therapies. Regenerative periodontal/bone therapies are broadly categorized as material-based therapies (firstgeneration biomaterial scaffold-based approach and second-generation growth-factor-based approach) and stem-cell-based therapies (third-generation MSC/ osteoprogenitor cell-based approach, fourth-generation stem-cell construction-based approach, and fifth-generation physiologically analogous tissue/organreplacement approach). Technologies from the first to the fourth generation have already reached the clinic. See details in Section 2.

Regenerative periodontal/bone therapy was originally based on the use of scaffolds. In this first generation of this approach, osteoconductive membranes and bone graft materials were used as a framework for cells migrate into the periodontal tissue to allow it to regenerate at its normal healing rate. The second generation utilized osteoinductive materials, such as growth factors, to stimulate periodontal tissues to grow at an increased rate. Treatment protocols based on these concepts have already widely infiltrated general dental practice because they utilize only non-viable materials during the surgical process and are therefore easily applied.

In contrast, MSC-based regenerative therapies have been established as a third-generation regenerative periodontal/bone therapy mainly in clinical research facilities such as university hospitals. Cell construction technologies [10–12], such as cell sheets, have recently been introduced to regenerative dentistry as a fourth-generation approach, and clinical trials are now under way. Future fifth-generation approaches are expected to use oral tissue-derived induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells [13–15] and genetically modified stem cells to create more physiologically analogous replacement tissue/organs, such as bioengineered periodontal tissues/teeth.

Combinations of these approaches, *e.g.*, simultaneous application of scaffolds, growth factors, and stem cells, are expected to increase the efficacy of regenerative therapies, based on the traditional tissue engineering concept [5]. However, the extent of clinical acceptance may vary greatly between material-based therapies (*i.e.*, the first- and second-generation approaches) and stem cell-based therapies (>third-generation approaches), which are practically difficult to implement in general dental clinics. Thus, regenerative approaches in future dental treatments should be discussed in two categories according to whether or not they utilize stem

cells. The following sections overview each treatment approach to discuss the needs of stem-cell-based therapies in addition to material-based therapies for clinical success.

#### 2.1. Scaffold-based tissue regeneration

The basic concept underlying conventional periodontal regenerative therapy is first to remove the source of infection and then to provide a space into which neighboring cells can grow [16]. To this end, various types of bone grafting materials have been applied to periodontal defects. The most documented material-based regenerative technique for periodontal regeneration therapy is guided tissue regeneration (GTR) [17,18], in which biocompatible barrier membranes, such as resorbable collagen (BioMend<sup>®</sup>: Calcitek, Colla-Tec Inc., USA) and poly lactic-co-glycolic acid (PLGA: GC membrane, GC Corporation, Japan) membranes or non-resorbable expanded polytetrafluoroethylene (ePTFE: GORE-TEX Regenerative Membrane<sup>®</sup>, W.L. Gore & Associates, Inc., USA) and titanium (Jeil Ti mesh, ProSeed, Japan) membranes, are surgically implanted to cover and protect the bone defect. In this procedure, connective tissue and bone regeneration then occur within the bone defect, which is protected by the barrier from rapid migration of epithelial tissues into the wound [19].

The PLGA and ePTFE polymers and commercially pure titanium membranes are bioinert materials that do not stimulate bone formation and do not directly bond to bone [20]. Therefore, alveolar bone augmentation/preservation techniques, such as guided bone regeneration (GBR) and socket preservation, require the use of bioactive materials, such as calcium phosphate (CaP)- and collagen-based grafts, to stimulate bone tissue formation and thus provide direct bonding with bone. Representative CaP-based biomaterials include hydroxyapatite (HA: NEOBONE<sup>®</sup>, Covalent Materials, Japan) [21], tricalcium phosphate ( $\beta$ -TCP: OSferion<sup>®</sup>, Olympus, Japan), biphasic calcium phosphate (HA +  $\beta$ -TCP: Triosite<sup>TM</sup>, Zimmer, France) and bovine bone mineral (BBM: Bio-Oss<sup>®</sup>, Geistlich Biomaterials, Switzerland).

It should be noted that CaP-based biomaterials are bioactive and osteoconductive, but they are not osteoinductive because they do not induce the formation of *de novo* bone in nonosseous sites [22]. Clinically, osteoinduction by bone grafting substitutes is especially important when applying titanium dental implants to permit accelerated bone formation and enhanced osseointegration of the implants with bone, thereby minimizing implant loosening that could lead to implant failure. Therefore, osteoinductive CaP-based scaffolds have been engineered through the incorporation of osteogenic bioactive factors (see Section 2.2 for the growth factors in the regenerative dentistry) and have been shown to promote bone formation [8,23,24].

As an alternative, bone graft/scaffold engineering using fibrous silk protein (fibroin) biomaterials from silkworms and spiders has received increasing interest [25] because of the controllable porosity, surface roughness and stiffness of these materials in the 3D scaffold fabrication process [26], and because they can be functionalized by chemical coupling of bioactive molecules or covalent conjugation of osteogenic growth factors [27]. Currently, the efficacy of silk-based biomaterials for bone regeneration has been investigated in preclinical studies, but these materials have not yet reached human application.

It is often beneficial for scaffolds to mimic the natural extracellular matrix (ECM) because ECM components specifically modulate MSC adhesion, migration, proliferation and osteogenic differentiation [28]. However, it is difficult to use animal-derived ECM clinically because of safety issues; synthetic peptide analogues of ECM components [29,30] or bioactive small molecules [31] may thus represent promising alternatives. When the fabrication cost is taken into account, cell-derived decellularized extracellular matrices may also present a promising approach to obtain ECM-based biomimetic materials [32].

Regardless of the material type, the challenge in scaffoldbased tissue regeneration strategies is to determine the appropriate scaffold properties (*e.g.*, porosity, surface geometry and mechanical strength) to support the cell activity necessary to promote bone regrowth by the host cells. In addition, appropriate carrier properties of the scaffolds should be determined to provide controlled release of osteogenic bioactive factors.

#### 2.2. Tissue regeneration based on growth factor delivery

Growth factor delivery has increased the options for combinatorial approaches with scaffold-based tissue regeneration. It is well known that the sequential bone development cascade is organized by a variety of cells and trophic/growth factors [33,34]. The tissue regeneration process can be partially considered as a recapitulation of the normal development process; therefore, it is reasonable to use trophic/growth factors to recruit stem cells to tissue defects and stimulate them to achieve regeneration.

One representative therapy that uses growth factor delivery to achieve periodontal regeneration is the application of plateletrich plasma (PRP), which consists of autologous platelets concentrated in a small volume of plasma. PRP contains several different growth factors and matrix elements [35] that may be used to regenerate periodontal defects. Currently, there is great interest concerning the use of PRP in combination with bone grafts or autologous stem cells [36] to obtain predictable periodontal regeneration. A recent systematic review showed that PRP was beneficial in the treatment of periodontal intrabony defects when used with graft materials but not with GTR [37]. Another report suggested that PRP may not provide significant benefits when compared with the use of  $\beta$ -TCP alone in the treatment of three-walled intrabony defects [38]. A split-mouth clinical trial that evaluated the effects of PRP on sinus lifting showed that bone augmentation upon histological observation was significantly increased in sites treated with BBM (Bio-Oss<sup>®</sup>) plus PRP when compared with BBM alone, although clinical assessments (computed tomography (CT) densitometry and the height of the augmented bone) showed no significant differences between these treatment modalities [39]. The inconclusive results of clinical trials of PRP may in part be derived from variations in platelet count and growth factor components among different PRP preparation techniques [35]. Nonetheless, at this time, there is no human study that strongly supports the use of PRP to treat severe alveolar bone loss, such as in sinus lifting procedures [40].

A commercially available enamel matrix derivative (EMD) product (Emdogain<sup>®</sup>, Biora AB, Sweden) has also been widely used in periodontal regeneration [41,42]. EMD is extracted developing porcine tooth buds and has been reported to be composed primarily of amelogenin. Despite its encouraging clinical outcomes, the mechanisms underlying the effects of Emdogain<sup>®</sup> on periodontal regeneration are not yet clear. Several studies suggest that EMD stimulates periodontal fibroblast proliferation/growth and inhibits epithelial cell proliferation/growth, which may thus lead to periodontal tissue regeneration [41-43]. However, a recent systematic review indicated a lack of additional benefit of a combined therapy of GTR and EMD in infrabony or furcation defects when compared with GTR therapy alone [44]. Because PRP and EMD are composed of various different proteins, it is important to identify their definitive active ingredients to obtain optimal and predictable clinical outcomes.

Recently, several recombinant growth factors have been introduced for periodontal/bone regenerative therapy [45], including bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)-2 [46], plateletderived growth factor (PDGF)-BB [47,48] and fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-2 [49,50]. BMP was originally characterized by its ability to induce bone formation [51,52]. Currently, BMPs are also known to play important roles in embryonic patterning and early skeletal formation [53]. Among the members of the BMP family, BMP-2 is famous for its strong ability to induce bone and cartilage formation [51–54]. Although BMP-2 is dispensable for bone formation [55], it is considered to activate bone-forming cells in the regenerative niche, such as stem cells and osteogenic progenitor cells, to induce the formation of new bone. Clinically, INFUSE<sup>®</sup> (Bone Graft, Medtronic, USA), which consists of recombinant human BMP-2 and an absorbable collagen sponge carrier, has been reported to dramatically induce bone formation in sinus augmentation and alveolar ridge augmentation [45,46,50].

Another commercially available growth-factor-based graft material for dental surgical procedures is GEM 21S<sup>®</sup> (Osteohealth, USA), which combines recombinant human PDGF-BB and  $\beta$ -TCP. PDGF, which is an important factor in PRP, is known to induce the formation and growth of blood vessels [56,57]. In dental applications, PDGF treatment enhances the proliferation of gingival and periodontal ligament (PDL) fibroblasts as well as cementum formation around teeth with periodontal defects [47]. Current available evidence supports the use of rhPDGF with a  $\beta$ -TCP graft to promote periodontal and peri-implant bone regeneration [48]. A recent randomized, controlled clinical trial confirmed that the local application of PDGF-BB in a  $\beta$ -TCP scaffold promoted long-term stable clinical improvements for patients afflicted by localized periodontal defects [58].

FGF-2 is another promising candidate for growth factor delivery [49,50,59], as it has a wide variety of biological functions in tissue regeneration, such as inducing angiogenesis (the formation of new blood vessels) and stem cell proliferation. A phase II clinical trial has already been completed [60], and the efficacy of gel-like formulated FGF-2 for periodontal regeneration has been confirmed [49]. Future therapies may thus use various combinations of growth factors to promote optimal periodontal tissue regeneration.

The conditioned medium from MSC cultures has also recently been reported to enhance bone formation in an experimental calvarial defect in rats [61]. The conditioned medium contains insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1 and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), but not FGF-2, PDGF-BB or BMP-2 [61]. Notably, the conditioned medium from cultured MSCs had stronger bone formation activity than the MSCs themselves. However, the detailed composition and underlying bone formation mechanism for the conditioned medium have not yet been reported. The active components and the optimal concentration of the conditioned medium should be determined prior to clinical application.

#### 3. Requirements of stem cells in regenerative therapy

#### 3.1. Alveolar bone augmentation

Clinical outcomes of material-based treatments indicate that partial periodontal tissue/bone loss (infrabony or furcation defects) can be treated using bioactive materials in a local environment that is suitable for natural healing, *i.e.*, one that enhances the capacity of local resident stem cells and their niche to regenerate the tissue. If partial periodontal tissue regeneration is desired in a patient, a material/growth-factorbased therapy should be the first choice because stem-cell-based therapies carry the drawbacks of high cost and labor. However, variability in clinical outcomes has been reported for material/ growth-factor-based regenerative therapies, which can be generally considered to have unpredictable results [62,63]. Therefore, improved bioactivity of materials for tissue regeneration and careful case selection and treatment planning are necessary to optimize the treatment outcomes.

It is clinically evident; however, that bone augmentation of the severely atrophic alveolar ridge, particularly vertical bone augmentation during GBR or sinus-lifting procedures, cannot be easily accomplished through material/growth-factor-based approaches alone because conventional bone grafting materials are not osteoinductive. Therefore, unavoidable resorption is induced by activated osteoclasts as an immune response against the transplants. Even if osteoinductive growth factors are applied with the scaffolds, their effect may be insufficient for the host cells to migrate into the large defect space.

Thus, autologous cancellous bone has been conventionally used for large bone defects because it possesses osteogenic, osteoconductive and osteoinductive properties provide by its appropriate cellular content [64]. However, autologous bone grafts exhibit high variability in their osteogenic potential among harvest sites and individuals [65], which can result in a less-than-desirable clinical outcome. In addition, difficulty in harvesting, limited intraoral supply, and associated donor site morbidity observed for autologous grafts have encouraged the development of stem-cell-based tissue engineering therapy as an alternative method. In this approach, the transplantation of stem cells into a large defect site would enable the grafted cells to respond to signaling molecules in the periodontal/osteogenic microenvironment to regenerate the tissue.

The recent increase in the demand for dental implants has generated a need for robust bone augmentation in the atrophic alveolar ridge and the maxillary sinus. The Academy of Osseointegration stated in its 2010 Silver Anniversary Summit [66] that the continued improvement of the dental implant success rate will require stem cell-based technologies, as osteogenic stem cells in an implant osteotomy site could provide the necessary factors to form superior bone that could contribute to enhanced long-term success of the implant treatment. Such an approach would decrease the need for a GTR membrane and could be used as a single product without requiring other adjuncts. Stem cell therapy is also potentially important for patients with compromised vascular supply and impaired wound healing because it may be able to improve vascularity to facilitate hard tissue augmentation at local sites [66]. Therefore, stem cells seem to present a promising strategy to achieve the regeneration of large alveolar bone defects, particularly to provide stable and accelerated bone formation as well as enhanced osseointegration in dental implant treatments.

#### 3.2. Tooth regeneration

Tooth regeneration has long been desired as the ultimate dental treatment because humans only have two sets of teeth: the deciduous and permanent teeth. Although predictable clinical effectiveness has been recognized for



**Fig. 2.** A clinical case of stem-cell-based alveolar bone regeneration for the insertion of a dental implant. A 20-year-old male patient presented with a missing maxillary left central incisor that had been lost in an accident. (A) Radiograph showing the significant alveolar bone defect that resulted from the loss of the tooth. (B) Radiograph showing the augmentation of the alveolar bone (arrow) by stem-cell-based therapy. *Ex vivo*-expanded bone marrow mesenchymal stem/stromal cells from the iliac crest were applied to the defect in a hydroxyapatite scaffold. (C) Radiograph showing the dental implant insertion four months after stem-cell treatment. (D) Labial view of the implant restoration (arrow). These images are from the 2007 study by Meijer et al. in PLoS Medicine [138]. The figure was reproduced under the open-access license policy of the journal.

tooth replacement using titanium dental implants [67–70], dental implants do not function identically to natural teeth because they integrate directly into the bone without an intervening PDL through a process known as osseointegration [71]. In natural teeth, the PDL serves a sensory function and makes it possible to absorb and distribute loads produced during mastication and other types of tooth contact. In addition, the PDL plays a critical role in tooth movement and in maintaining homeostasis of the PDL and alveolar bone.

Clinically, a drawback of implant treatments is that the implanted material cannot adapt itself to changes in the surrounding tissues during the growth or aging of the patient [72-75]. Indeed, we occasionally encounter clinical cases in which the incisal edge of the implant-supported superstructure and the adjacent teeth become unevenly aligned years after the implantation. In addition, we occasionally encounter clinical cases that show unexpected recession of the facial mucosal margin at the implant site [76,77] or fracture of the implant or its superstructure as well as bone loss in patients with bruxism [78]. These problems appear to be caused at least in part by the lack of soft tissue homeostasis and cushioning normally provided by the PDL. Furthermore, recent reports have raised the possibility of metal sensitivity after exposure to titanium in some patients under certain circumstances [79,80]. Therefore, implant treatments require improvement in several aspects, such as tooth movement, tissue homeostasis, shock absorption, and anti-allergic biocompatibility. These requirements have gradually engendered the necessity of stem-cell-based tooth regeneration to ameliorate the deficiencies of titanium dental implants.

#### 4. Current status of stem-cell-based therapy

The clinical effectiveness of stem cell therapies has mainly been evaluated in alveolar ridge augmentation for the insertion of dental implants (Fig. 2). Currently, clinical approaches to stem-cell-based bone augmentation are divided broadly into two categories: a tissue engineering approach and a chair-side cellular grafting approach (Fig. 3). In both approaches, bone marrow-derived MSCs (BMSCs) from the iliac crest are the most commonly used stem cells because they are the most well characterized stem cells among clinically available stem cells and have been shown to possess superior osteogenic ability. In addition, periosteum-derived stem/osteoprogenitor cells [81–87], adipose tissue-derived MSCs [88,89] and dental tissue-derived MSCs [90] have been applied to engineer bone for orofacial bone regeneration (the merits of each type of stem cell for the regeneration of alveolar bone are described in detail in Part I of this review [1]).

#### 4.1. Tissue engineering approach

Conventional and long-established stem-cell-based regenerative strategies have used cell culture techniques to increase the number of cells in vitro for later implantation to achieve bone tissue engineering (Table 1). In 2003, Schmelzeisen et al. [81] first showed the feasibility of using a tissue-engineered bony graft formed by periosteum-derived stem/osteoprogenitor cells for augmentation in the posterior maxilla prior to implant insertion. The following year, the same group demonstrated from clinical results in 27 patients that lamellar bone formed within 3 months after transplantation to provide a reliable basis for the insertion of dental implants [82]. Recently, Nagata et al. [87] reported using histomorphometric and CT analyses that the application of cultured periosteal cells with particulate bone and PRP as an autologous glue-like graft material induced bone remodeling, thereby enhancing osseointegration and consequently reducing postoperative waiting time after dental implant placement. It was suggested that the grafted cell-based material may serve as a source of stem cells, osteoprogenitor cells and angiogenic cells to accelerate the regeneration of functional bone with metabolic activity by supplying cells and growth factors necessary to activate bone formation and resorption.

In 2004, Ueda and his colleagues demonstrated successful alveolar bone tissue engineering with simultaneous implant placement through the application of an injectable gel-like mixture of BMSCs and PRP [91]. The same group subsequently reported successful tissue engineering in cases of periodontal bone loss [36], alveolar cleft osteoplasty [92], and maxillary sinus floor elevation [93,94]. The effectiveness of BMSCs for orofacial bone regeneration and implant placement has also been demonstrated when the cells are applied with HA particles [95], biphasic HA/ $\beta$ -TCP [96], a gelatin sponge [97], BBM (Bio-Oss<sup>®</sup>), HA/TCP and recombinant PDGF [98], and frozen autologous cancellous bone [99]. In addition to BMSCs, adipose tissue-derived MSCs have also been shown to be useful for orofacial bone regeneration and implant placement [88,89].



Fig. 3. Schematic diagram illustrating the current clinical approaches to stem-cell-based bone augmentation. The chair-side cellular grafting approach (orange arrow) uses patient-derived freshly processed bone marrow (mononuclear cell population), which contains mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs), hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), and angiogenic cells, mixed with a scaffold and growth factors, such as platelet-rich plasma (PRP), as a grafting material. The tissue engineering approach (red arrow) uses MSCs, which are isolated from aspirated bone marrow and expanded *in vitro*. The MSCs are further cultured with osteogenic factors and a scaffold to generate an osteogenic construct (tissue-engineered bone) or cell sheets as a grafting material. Conventional autograft bone augmentation (blue arrow) uses autologous bone collected from the ilium or mandible.

Dental pulp-derived MSCs also demonstrated the capacity to completely restore human mandible bone defects when they used with a collagen sponge scaffold [90].

Although these reports suggest that stem-cell-based tissue engineering is beneficial, general critiques of cell therapy approaches have included the lack of characterization of the cellular component of the graft and the lack of reproducible cell isolation and expansion protocols that can predictably yield consistent cell populations. Indeed, Meijer et al. [95] reported substantial interpatient variability in clinical bone formation when using a stem-cell-based tissue engineering therapy. To overcome these issues, Kaigler et al. [100] prepared a standardized MSC population that was enriched in CD90and CD14-positive cells using an automated cell processing unit, and reported a randomized, controlled feasibility trial for the regeneration of craniofacial bone. The stem-cell-based therapy accelerated alveolar bone regeneration when compared with GBR therapy. Zizelmann et al. [84] evaluated the resorption rate of tissue-engineered bone grafts and autologous cancellous bone in the maxillary sinus 3 months after operation, and suggested that tissue-engineered grafts containing cultured periosteum-derived osteoblasts (resorption rate of 90%) were less reliable than autologous bone grafts (resorption rate of 25%) for sinus augmentation. Further randomized controlled trials for longer durations are necessary to determine whether cell-based tissue engineering offers long-term benefits to patients. It is also necessary to establish definitive protocols for stem/osteoprogenitor cell preparation and appropriate carrier scaffolds for the cells that have optimal degradation and an osteoinductive surface.

#### 4.2. Chair-side cellular grafting approach

The other approach to stem-cell-based bone regeneration relies on the direct use of a patient-derived fresh cellular graft prepared at the chair-side [101–106] or a commercially prepared allograft bone matrix that contains native MSCs (prepared from cadavers) [107,108] (Table 2). These procedures are relatively convenient for clinicians because they do not require laboratory support or extensive training.

In 2006, Smiler and Soltan [109] first reported a technique for chair-side cellular graft preparation using fresh aspirated bone marrow from the ilium that was mixed with a resorbable matrix, and they also showed bone marrow aspirate that was transplanted with biocompatible scaffolds [110] or allograft bone blocks [111] could successfully regenerate bone. Thereafter, cellular grafting approaches using the mononuclear fraction obtained from processed fresh marrow have been well documented. This method has been developed as a system called "Bone Marrow Aspirate Concentrate (BMAC<sup>TM</sup>)". The mononuclear fraction contains two principal lineages of stem cells: one responsible for hematopoiesis and another regarded as an MSC population [112].

The clinical effects observed in patients when using this approach have mainly been attributed to the presence of MSCs in the mononuclear cell fraction in the bone grafts

Table 1			
Clinical studies of tissue	engineering therapy fo	r orofacial bone	regeneration.

Authors (year) [Ref.]	Cell source	Cultivation period	Osteogenic induction	Constitution of grafts	Subject number	Surgical procedure
Schmelzeisen et al. (2003) [81]	Periosteum	4 passages	AS, Dex, $\beta$ -gly, AsA (1 week)	PLGA fleece (Ethisorb <sup>®</sup> ), fibrin glue (TissueColl <sup>®</sup> )	2 patients	SL
Schimming and Schmelzeisen (2004) [82]	Periosteum	4 passages	AS, Dex, $\beta$ -gly, AsA (1 week)	PLGA fleece (Ethisorb <sup>®</sup> ), fibrin glue (TissueColl <sup>®</sup> )	27 patients	SL
Yamada et al. (2004) [91] Ueda et al. (2005) [214]	Iliac BM Iliac BM	NA NA	FBS, Dex, $\beta$ -gly, AsA Serum, Dex, $\beta$ -gly, AsA	PRP, thrombin/calcium chloride PRP, β-TCP, thrombin/ calcium chloride	3 patients 6 patients	ABA SL, ABA
Springer et al. (2006) [83]	Periosteum Maxillary bone	3 weeks 2 weeks	AS, Dex, $\beta$ -gly, AsA (1 week) AS (1.5 months)	Collagen matrix BBM	8 patients 2 patients	SL SL
Hibi et al. (2006) [92]	Iliac BM	4 weeks	AS, Dex, $\beta$ -gly, AsA (1 week)	PRP, thrombin/calcium chloride	1 patient	ACO
Yamada et al. (2006) [36]	Iliac BM	1 month	Serum, Dex, $\beta$ -gly, AsA	PRP, thrombin/calcium chloride	1 patient	Periodontal regeneration
Zizelmann et al. (2007) [84]	Periosteum	4 passages	AS, Dex, $\beta$ -gly, AsA (1 week)	PLGA fleece (Ethisorb <sup>®</sup> ), fibrin glue (TissueColl <sup>®</sup> )	10 patients (14 sites)	SL
Ueda et al. (2008) [215]	Iliac BM	1 month	Serum, Dex, β-gly, AsA	PRP, thrombin/calcium chloride	14 patients	SL, ABA
Kulakov et al. (2008) [88]	Adipose tissue	3 passages	FBS, Dex, $\beta$ -gly, AsA, 1,25-dihydroxy vitamin D <sub>3</sub>	Biodegradable matrix/PRP, thrombin/calcium chloride	8 patients	ABA
Meijer et al. (2008) [95]	Iliac BM	3 passages	FBS, Dex	HA (Pro Osteon <sup>®</sup> 500R)	6 patients	ABA, SL
Shayestheh et al. (2008) [96]	Iliac BM	NA	AS	HA/TCP	6 patients	SL
Beaumont et al. (2008) [85]	Periosteum	4 passages +1 week	AS, Dex, β-gly, AsA	PLGA fleece (Ethisorb <sup>®</sup> ), fibrinogen (TissueColl <sup>®</sup> ), thrombin, BBM	3 patients	SL
Yamada et al. (2008) [93]	Iliac BM	6 weeks	AS or FBS, Dex, $\beta$ -gly, AsA	PRP, thrombin/calcium chloride	12 patients (16 sites)	SL
d'Aquino et al. (2009) [90] Mesimäki et al. (2009) [89]	Dental pulp Adipose tissue	3 weeks 2 weeks +2 days	FBS AS	collagen sponge (Gingistat <sup>®</sup> ) β-TCP/rhBMP-2	7 patients 1 patients	SP ABA
Kaigler et al. (2010) [97] Voss et al. (2010) [86]	Iliac BM Periosteum Iliac hone graft	12 days 12 days 8 weeks	FBS, HS, hydrocortisone NA	Gelatin sponge (Gelfoam <sup>®</sup> ) PLGA fleece (Ethisorb <sup>®</sup> ) Autologous iliac hone graft	1 patient 35 patients	SP SL SL (control)
Lee et al. (2010) [99]	Iliac BM	4 weeks	- FBS, Dex, β-gly, AsA	Freeze dried autologous bone, fibrin glue	1 patient	Reconstruction of large mandibular defect
Yamada et al. (2011) [94]	Iliac BM	6 weeks	AS or FBS, Dex, β-gly. AsA	PRP	23 patients	SL
Nagata et al. (2012) [87]	Periosteum	6 weeks	FBS, AsA	Particulate autologous bone/PRP	25 patients	ABA, SL
Kaigler et al. (2012) [100]	Iliac BM	12 days	FBS, HS, Hyd	Gelatin sponge (Gelfoam <sup>®</sup> ) Gelatin sponge (Gelfoam <sup>®</sup> )	12 patients 12 patients	SP SP
Behnia et al. (2012) [98]	Iliac BM	2 weeks	AS	HA/β-TCP (ReproBone <sup>TM</sup> )/ PDGF/plasma fibrin	3 patients (4 sites)	ACO

NA: not available; BM: bone marrow; AS: autologous serum; FBS: fetal bovine serum; HS: horse serum; Dex: dexamethasone;  $\beta$ -gly:  $\beta$ -glycerophosphate; AsA: Lascorbic acid 2-phosphate; Hyd: hydrocortisone; PLGA: poly lactic-co-glycolic acid; PRP: platelet-rich plasma; TCP: tricalcium phosphate; HA: hydroxyapatite; BBM: bovine bone mineral (Bio-Oss<sup>®</sup>); SL: sinus lift; ABA: alveolar bone augmentation (onlay grafting); ACO: alveolar cleft osteoplasty; SP: socket preservation.

[102]. MSCs prepared by the chair-side method and combined with BBM particles have been shown to form lamellar bone and provide a reliable base for dental implants [103]. Rickert et al. [104] assessed in a prospective randomized clinical trial whether the bone formation was different after maxillary sinus floor elevation surgery using BBM (Bio-Oss<sup>®</sup>) mixed with autologous BMAC when compared with the use of autologous bone on the contralateral side. A histomorphometrical analysis revealed significantly more bone formation in the BMAC grafting group when compared with the autologous bone grafting group. Sauerbier et al. [105] demonstrated in a controlled, randomized, single-blinded clinical and histological trial that new bone formation after 3–4 months was equivalent in sinuses augmented with BMAC and BBM or a mixture of autologous bone and BBM. Thus, this technique could be an alternative for the use of autografts to stimulate bone formation.

An interesting aspect of the chair-side method is that no clinical or histologic inflammatory response was observed after the operation [104,107]. The cells in freshly processed grafts are not completely homogeneous and may contain several cell types, such as MSCs, osteogenic cells, hematopoietic cells, angiogenic cells and stromal cells. Therefore, the freshly prepared cellular grafting material may behave somewhat similarly to a primitive bone niche to provide easier acceptance by the host environment without an unfavorable local inflammatory reaction. Furthermore, recent studies have demonstrated that BMSCs have a beneficial anti-inflammatory effect when administered directly to an injured tissue or intravenously [113–115] (see Section 7.1). Therefore, it is

237

Table 2				
Clinical studies of stem-cell-based orofacia	l bone regenerative	therapy using the	chair-side cellular	grafting approach.

Authors (year) [Ref.]	Cell source	Preparation method	Composition of grafts	Subject number	Surgical procedure
Smiler and Soltan (2006) [109]	Iliac BM	Fresh BMA	Resorbable matrix	3 patients	SL, SP
Smiler et al. (2007) [110]	Iliac BM	Fresh BMA	PepGen P-15 <sup>®</sup> , C-Graft <sup>®</sup> , β-TCP	5 patients	SL, ABA
Soltan et al. (2007) [111]	Iliac BM	Fresh BMA	Corticocancellous allograft bone block	5 patients	SL, ABA
Filho Cerruti et al. (2007) [101]	Iliac/sternum BM	MNC fraction	Autologous particulate bone, PRP	32 patients	ABA, SL
Wongchuensoontorn et al. (2009) [102]	Iliac BM	BMAC	Autogenous iliac bone graft, reconstruction bone plate	1 patient	Treatment of mandibular fracture
McAllister et al. (2009) [107]	Commercial product (from cadavers)	Ready to use	Stem cell-containing allograft (Osteocel <sup>®</sup> )	5 patients	SL
Soltan et al. (2010) [216]	Iliac BM	Fresh BMA	HA (C-Graft <sup>®</sup> ) or particulate bone	2 patients	ABA
Sauerbier et al. (2010) [103]	Iliac BM	FICOLL®	BBM, fibrin glue (TissueColl <sup>®</sup> )	6 sites	SL
	Iliac BM	BMAC	BBM, autologous thrombin	12 sites	SL
Pelegine et al. (2010) [217]	Iliac BM	BMAC	None	13 patients (30 sites)	SP
Gonshor et al. (2011) [108]	Commercial product (from cadavers)	Ready to use	Stem cell-containing allograft (Osteocel <sup>®</sup> )	18 patients (26 sites)	SL
Sauerbier et al. (2011) [105]	Iliac BM	BMAC	BBM, autologous thrombin	25 patients (34 sites)	SL
	Milled autogenous bone	-	BBM	11 patients (11 sites)	SL
Rickert et al. (2011) [104]	Iliac BM	BMAC	BBM	12 patients	SL (split-mouth design)
	Autogenous bone	-	BBM		
Schmelzeisen et al. (2011) [106]	Iliac BM	BMAC	BBM, autologous thrombin	1 patient	SL

BM: bone marrow; BMA: bone marrow aspirate; MNC: mononuclear cell; BMAC: bone marrow aspirate concentrate (BMAC<sup>TM</sup> procedure pack; Harvest Technologies Corp., USA); FICOLL<sup>®</sup>: classic cell separation system using the synthetic polysaccharide method; PRP: platelet-rich plasma; TCP: tricalcium phosphate; HA: hydroxyapatite; BBM: bovine bone mineral (Bio-Oss<sup>®</sup>); SL: sinus lift; SP: socket preservation; ABA: alveolar bone augmentation (onlay grafting).

possible that the implanted naïve BMSC population plays an additional role in supplying specific growth/trophic factors to suppress over-inflammation in the local niche to further enhance bone regeneration. To improve this approach to stem cell therapy, it is necessary to elucidate the precise mechanisms underlying the enhancement of local bone regeneration by the implanted cells.

#### 4.3. Cell-sheet-based tissue regeneration

Recently, a new tissue engineering technique, termed cellsheet-based bioengineering, has been developed and utilized successfully for tissue regeneration [116–119]. In this technique, enzymatic cell digestion is not required and the cell-to-cell contact in the engineered construct thus remains intact, which should be beneficial for tissue regeneration. Additionally, ECM proteins that are secreted from the embedded cells can be used conveniently without requiring an additional scaffold. Several tissue engineering applications of cell sheets have been reported, *e.g.*, using the cell sheet to wrap a scaffold [120–122], using a multi-layered cell sheet [123,124], and using the cell sheet as a source of 3D pellet [125].

Cell sheet technology has now been utilized in the dental field to achieve efficient regeneration of periodontal and alveolar bone tissues. Ishikawa and his colleagues are the pioneers in this field and first reported the fabrication of PDL cell sheets retrieved from culture on unique temperatureresponsive culture dishes [126]. Thereafter, several pilot studies demonstrated that transplantation of PDL cell sheets regenerated periodontal tissue in experimental defect models in rats [127,128], dogs [124,126,129] and swine [130,131]. Tsumanuma et al. [132] reported using a canine severe defect model (one-wall intrabony defect) that transplantation of PDL cell sheets contributed greater periodontal regeneration with newly formed cementum and well-oriented PDL fibers than transplantation of iliac BMSC or alveolar periosteal cell sheets. Ishikawa's group also determined an optimal protocol for the extraction, expansion and characterization of human PDL cells [133] and validated the safety and efficacy of the PDL sheet for clinical trials [134]. A clinical trial study using the PDL sheet technology is currently under way for regenerative periodontal therapy [135].

Periosteum-derived cells have also been used as a cell sheet source for bone regenerative therapy. The human cultured periosteal sheet is an osteoinductive biomaterial, even without the inclusion of conventional scaffold materials [136]. Nagata et al. [87] demonstrated that the use of a cultured autologous periosteal cell sheet for sinus lifting induced bone remodeling that may enable the regeneration of bone tissues with complex morphology in a wide area and thus expand indications for dental implants. Dental follicle cells (DFCs) have also been suggested as a good candidate for cell-sheet-based periodontal [137] and root [121] regeneration.

# 5. Factors that influence stem cell-based regenerative therapy

Stem-cell-based therapy has shown promise for orofacial bone regeneration but is a relatively new technology, and the events following transplantation are poorly understood. In clinical assessments of stem-cell-mediated ridge augmentation, it is not clear whether the new bone formation was provided by the surviving implanted cells (osteoinduction) or host osteogenic cells (osteoconduction) [138]. Although BMSCs have been extensively characterized during culture expansion, relatively little is known of their biological properties in the naïve state. In addition, culture expansion of BMSCs may alter their fundamental biological properties, which may affect the immune responses by the recipient immune cells. In this section, factors that affect stem cell-based bone regeneration related to the survival of the transplanted cells, pre-culture conditions and possible local immune response are discussed.

#### 5.1. Survival of transplanted cells

Successful bone tissue engineering by cell transplantation requires sufficient numbers of cells with osteogenic capacity and retention of cellular viability to permit the transplanted cells to produce an ECM for the tissue regeneration. Indeed, the implantation of a high dose of cells resulted in a significantly higher amount of newly formed bone when compared with low and medium doses in a rabbit calvarial vertical bone regeneration model [139]. However, the fate of the transplanted cells and its effect on clinical outcome is uncertain. Meijer et al. [95] histologically examined biopsies taken 4 months after reconstruction of an intra-oral bone defect by transplantation of autologous BMSCs and HA particles, and observed *de novo* bone formation by the transplanted cells in only 1 of 3 patients.

Several animal studies suggest that transplanted cells die quickly or migrate out of the transplanted site. When fluorescently labeled MSCs that were seeded on a HA/TCP scaffold were subcutaneously implanted in isogenic rats, the number of transplanted cells gradually decreased, and the donor cells could no longer be identified fourteen days after implantation [140]. In a goat model, viable MSCs, which were transplanted using a gelatin carrier into osteochondral defects, were identified until 2 days after implantation, whereas an extensive loss of the implanted MSCs occurred by days 7 and 14, possibly because of the fragmentation, dislodgement, death and passive migration of the cells [141]. Boukhechba et al. [142] tracked donor and recipient cells after implantation of BMSCs in an isogenic model of ectopic bone formation using Y-chromosome in situ hybridization and showed that the grafted cells did not survive more than three weeks after implantation. Although some of the cells migrated to peripheral lymphoid organs, the grafted BMSCs triggered new bone matrix formation through the attraction of recipient cells into the implants.

Tasso et al. [143] investigated the host response to the implantation of BMSCs in a porous ceramic scaffold in a mouse subcutaneous model and demonstrated that two different waves of cells (CD31<sup>+</sup> endothelial progenitors and CD146<sup>+</sup> pericytelike cells) migrated from the host to the BMSC-seeded ceramic to participate in the development of the newly formed tissue. Survival of the transplanted cells can be supported by sufficient vascular supply; therefore, the cross-talk between implanted exogenous BMSCs and resident stem/progenitor cells may play a pivotal role in increasing vascularization in BMSC implants to support cell survival and subsequent bone regeneration. This cross-talk may involve the cell-mediated immune response (see Section 5.3). Further studies on host-donor cross-talk help to elucidate the cell interactions that occur during bone regeneration and provide innovative approaches for advanced cell-based bone regeneration therapy.

#### 5.2. Pre-culture condition of the donor cells

Effects of the pre-culture condition of transplanted cells on *in vivo* bone formation have been extensively studied. It appears that human BMSCs lose their *in vivo* osteogenic ability during *in vitro* expansion using classic culture methods regardless of the length of osteogenic induction [144]. Serum-free culture using a serum substitute (Ultroser<sup>®</sup> G [145] or StemPro<sup>®</sup> [146]) allows better expansion of human BMSCs, and BMSCs expanded in serum-free medium showed ectopic bone formation as efficient as that obtained with BMSCs expanded in conventional serum-containing medium [146]. Although CaP-based biomaterials have significant potential for bone regeneration, pre-culture of human periosteum-derived cells with biomimetic calcium and phosphate supplementation resulted in partial or complete abrogation of *in vivo* ectopic bone formation [147].

The duration of *in vitro* pre-culture is a critical factor in the ability of BMSCs to regenerate bone. Agata et al. [144] reported that 2-week osteogenic induction of human BMSCs increased the probability of success in ectopic bone formation when compared with 1-week induction. In contrast, Castano-Izquierdo et al. [148] reported that osteogenic induction of rat BMSCs for only 4 days resulted superior in vivo bone formation than induction for 16 days. Niemeyer et al. [149] evaluated the survival of undifferentiated and osteogenically induced human bone marrow- or adipose tissue-derived MSCs after transplantation in immunocompetent mice. Undifferentiated MSCs were detected in the majority of cases; however, osteogenically induced MSCs were only detected in a few cases, which suggests that osteogenically induced MSCs were eliminated by the host immune system. These reports suggest that the optimum pre-culture conditions for human BMSCs to maintain their survival at the transplantation site for stable bone regeneration remain unclear and controversial. Thus, optimal pre-culture conditions should be established when designing protocols for stem-cell-based bone regeneration.



**Fig. 4.** Schematic diagram illustrating the cross-talk between grafted cells and microenvironment in bone regeneration. The clinical success of bone regeneration may be significantly affected by the host immune system. Inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ , secreted from T cells strongly inhibit bone regeneration by inducing apoptosis of the grafted cells [150]. In contrast, regulatory T cells (Tregs) enhance bone regeneration by inhibiting the activation of T cells using anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-10. Although systemically transplanted bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (BMSCs) also inhibit the recipient immune system by activating recipient Tregs or inhibiting the activation of T cells [155], it is still unclear whether locally grafted MSCs/osteogenically induced cells have the same effect on the local immune system.

#### 5.3. Local immune responses to cellular grafting

It is known that ectopic bone formation by stem cells transplanted in animal models is not always predictive of the clinical outcomes for orthotopic bone formation in humans [95]. One possible reason for this discrepancy is that most animal studies use immune-compromised mice, which lack some components of the immune system (*e.g.*, T cells and B cells) present in typical patients. Recently, involvement of the recipient immune system in BMSC-mediated bone regeneration has attracted considerable attention.

Liu et al. [150] reported that BMSC-mediated bone regeneration is partly controlled by the host local microenvironment in which immune cells and inflammatory cytokines affect the BMSCs. Autologous BMSCs did not generate bone when the cells were subcutaneously transplanted into wild-type mice using an HA/TCP carrier, whereas abundant bone formation was observed when BMSCs were transplanted into immune-compromised (T cell-deficient) mice. In addition, when T cells derived from wild-type mice were systemically injected into the immune-compromised mice prior to BMSCs transplantation, bone formation was significantly inhibited, with increased production of IFN-y and TNF- $\alpha$  by host CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that may induce BMSC apoptosis. Furthermore, Liu et al. demonstrated that calvarial bone regeneration in wild-type mice could be enhanced through suppression of IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$  (*i.e.*, inhibition of host T cell activity) using systemic infusion of regulatory T cells (Tregs) or site-specific aspirin treatment. However, Ren et al. [151] reported that the inflammatory niche of IFN-y together with TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\alpha$  or IL-1- $\beta$  activates the immunosuppressive ability of BMSCs to provoke the expression of high levels of several chemokines and inducible nitric oxide synthase. The chemokines drive T cell migration towards the BMSCs, where T cell responsiveness is suppressed by nitric oxide (NO). These reports indicate that the environmental immune status at the grafting site substantially affects BMSC-mediated bone regeneration.

Conversely, donor BMSCs produce various anti-inflammatory factors to inhibit the proliferation and function of several types of immune cells [152]. Although the overall outcome of MSC-mediated immunosuppression is inhibition of T cell activation and proliferation, MSCs have also been shown to induce T cell differentiation into immunosuppressive Tregs [153,154]. In addition, systemically transplanted MSCs induce recipient T cell apoptosis and resulting increase in the number of Tregs [155]. MSCs can also stimulate macrophages and dendritic cells to secrete IL-10 [153,156], which in turn has a profound immunosuppressive effect on T cells.

Animal studies have demonstrated that allogenic  $\beta$ -islet [157] or heart [158] transplantation coupled with MSC infusion results in successful engraftment of the MSCs and reduced rejection of the transplanted organs. Both studies indicate that MSC co-transplantation prolongs graft survival, possibly through impaired anti-donor T cell activity and expansion of IL-10-secreting Tregs [157,158]. It has also been demonstrated that xenogenic transplantation of human BMSCs results in poorer bone regeneration than autologous transplantation of ovine BMSCs in a critical-size tibia defect [159].

These findings strongly suggest that the cross-talk between implanted donor BMSCs and recipient immune cells plays a key role in determining the success of BMSC-mediated tissue regeneration (Fig. 4); therefore, the local immune response to BMSC transplantation should be evaluated in future studies. The knowledge of native BMSC biology and interactions of BMSCs with their microenvironment, *i.e.*, the stem cell niche, in healthy or regenerating bone tissues will provide guidance for future clinical applications.



Fig. 5. Schematic representation of the current regenerative strategy for mature tooth/organ replacement. Recent advances in biotechnology have enabled the fabrication of a bioengineered tooth unit (whole tooth and periodontal tissues surrounded by alveolar bone) and multiple arranged tooth units from mouse tooth-germ-derived single epithelial cells and mesenchymal cells. Upon transplantation, the bioengineered tooth unit (arrowheads) was engrafted in the alveolar bone defect of the recipient mouse *via* bone integration, which resulted in vertical bone formation (arrows). Future stem-cell technology may permit the development of bioengineered tooth units using patient-derived iPS cells or dental mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs). The right panel was reproduced from Oshima et al. [166] under the open-access license policy of PLoS One.

## 6. Pre-clinical studies on complex oral tissue/organ regeneration

Regeneration technologies for complex oral tissues/organs, such as the teeth, salivary glands, mandible condyle and tongue, have not yet reached the clinical trial stage because of their developmental and structural complexity. However, recent advances based on animal research have identified feasible strategies to regenerate these tissues/organs.

#### 6.1. Tooth/root regeneration

The ultimate goal of tooth regeneration is to develop fully functioning bioengineered teeth that can replace lost teeth [160]. In contrast, the regeneration of the tooth root is a conceivably more realistic and clinical applicable approach, especially for prosthodontists, because the regenerated tooth root can be used as an abutment tooth to permit fixed-prosthetic approaches, such as crown and bridge treatments. Sonoyama et al. [161] demonstrated that a root/periodontal complex constructed using PDL stem cells (PDLSCs), stem cells from the apical papilla (SCAP) and a HA/TCP scaffold, was capable of supporting an artificial crown to provide normal tooth function in a swine model. In addition, cell sheet technology using DFCs in combination with a dentin matrix-based scaffold has been applied successfully to tooth root reconstruction [121]. New stem-cell-based technology for the regeneration of the tooth root and its associated periodontal tissue may offer clinical opportunities for the treatment of damaged or lost teeth.

Regeneration of the entire tooth is expected to be one of the highest achievements in the field of dentistry. Tooth engineering to form dental structures *in vivo* has been established using many different types of stem cells from mice [162], rats [163] and pigs [164]. Ikeda et al. [165] demonstrated a fully functioning tooth replacement in a mouse through the transplantation into the alveolar bone of

bioengineered tooth germ reconstituted from epithelial and mesenchymal progenitor/stem cells in a collagen gel. The bioengineered tooth, which was erupted and occluded, had the correct tooth structure, hardness of mineralized tissues for mastication, and response to noxious stimulation such as mechanical stress and pain in cooperation with other oral and maxillofacial tissues. Using the same cell source used for the bioengineered tooth, the in vivo reconstruction of a murine "bioengineered tooth unit" was recently demonstrated [166] (Fig. 5). Surprisingly, the unit comprised not only a mature tooth and periodontal ligament but also alveolar bone. The unit provided a fully functional tooth with vertical bone regeneration when the unit was transplanted into a vertical alveolar bone defect in a mouse model. These findings resulted in a new concept in tooth regeneration therapy: the transplantation of a bioengineered tooth has great potential for not only wholetooth regenerative therapy but also as a treatment in clinical cases where tooth loss is accompanied by a serious alveolar bone defect [166]. One of the major hurdles in the clinical application of tooth regeneration technology is the identification of an appropriate autologous stem cell source in humans. In this regard, iPS cells may be an appropriate cell source because they can be differentiated to dental epithelial and mesenchymal cells [167,168] and can be prepared from the patients' own somatic cells.

#### 6.2. Salivary gland regeneration

Regeneration of salivary glands by stem cell transplantation is an important study topic for head and neck oncology and surgery because radiotherapy unavoidably impairs salivary gland function and results in xerostomia (dry mouth syndrome) as a side effect. Two main regenerative approaches have been applied to functionally restore damaged salivary glands. One approach is to develop an artificial salivary gland using tissue engineering technologies [169–171]. Another approach is to apply stem cells to the damaged salivary grand tissue. In a mouse model, adipose-derived MSCs transplanted in irradiated submandibular glands restored salivary gland function [172]. Transplantation of BMSCs into the mouse tail vein also repaired the function of irradiated salivary glands [173]. Recently, primitive salivary gland stem cells were isolated from mice, and intra-glandular transplantation of these cells successfully repaired the function of irradiated salivary glands [174,175]. These reports suggest that stem cell transplantation may be used to functionally repair damaged salivary glands. The detailed regeneration mechanism should be clarified, *i.e.*, whether the donor stem/progenitor cells repair damaged host cells through replacement or by activating turnover of the host cells.

#### 6.3. Mandible condyle regeneration

Damage to the temporomandibular joint disc or condyle (condylar osteochondral defect) arising from trauma or arthritis can result in lifelong pain and disturbed masticatory function for patients. Tissue regeneration strategy on these defects can hold promise to affect the quality of life (QOL) of these patients. In a goat model, the combination of cartilage tissue engineering using cartilage-derived progenitor cells carried in a hydrogel and distraction osteogenesis was successfully used to reconstruct condylar osteochondral defects [176]. Additionally, a human-shaped mandibular condyle was successfully engineered from chondrogenically and osteogenically induced rat BMSCs encapsulated in a biocompatible polymer [177,178]. BMSCs that were induced to differentiate into chondrogenic and osteogenic cells produced regeneration of rabbit mandibular condyle that was enhanced by low-intensity pulsed ultrasound [179]. These findings may provide an initial proof of concept for the ultimate stem-cell-based tissue engineering of degenerated articular condyles in the context of diseases such as rheumatic arthritis.

#### 6.4. Tongue regeneration

Loss of tongue tissue from surgical resection can profoundly affect the OOL because the tongue plays a critical role in speech, swallowing and airway protection. Therefore, reconstruction of tongue defects has been a continuing challenge in dentistry. Cell-based reconstruction of the tongue was reported in a rat model where myoblast/progenitor cells carried in a collagen gel were implanted into the hemiglossectomized tongue [180,181] to provide successful muscle regeneration in the tongue with reduced scar contracture [180]. The tongue is a complex structure that includes skeletal muscle fibers, mucosa with taste buds, and nervous tissue; therefore, functional regeneration is difficult. Egusa et al. [182] demonstrated that applying of cyclic strain to BMSCs greatly accelerated in vitro skeletal myogenesis to achieve aligned myotube structures, suggesting the importance of cellular alignment for creating physiologically relevant environments to engineer skeletal muscle. Advances in stem cell biology and tissue engineering may enable the reconstruction of the damaged or resected tongue with normal physiological function.

#### 7. Cell-based immunotherapy using MSCs

Conventionally, MSCs have been recognized as a type of grafting material that can cooperatively fill tissue defects with scaffolds at a local site. However, a new role of MSCs as immune modulators was recently revealed, and the potential usage of MSCs has been expanded to the treatment of immune-mediated diseases.

# 7.1. Systemic delivery of BMSCs for immune-mediated diseases

Originally, BMSCs were used as feeder cells to expand hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) in vitro, and recent studies revealed that BMSCs constitute an essential HSC niche component in bone marrow [183]. However, MSCs isolated from adult tissue mediate tissue and organ repair, and they also home to the site of injury, where they secrete cytokines and growth factors that participate in repair processes including the proliferation and differentiation of endogenous progenitor cells [184]. It is therefore likely that inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , at the inflammatory site stimulate the homing of endogenous or transplanted MSCs [185]. Furthermore, MSCs express matrix metalloproteinase to invade through ECM barriers [186]. Although the mechanism underlying MSC homing is still not clear, it appears to be very similar to that of leukocytes, as it involves steps such as tethering, rolling, and transmigration at the wound site [187,188].

Notably, recent studies demonstrated that systemically transplanted BMSCs exhibit a profound immunomodulatory effect on immune cells and may thus be used as a therapy for immune-mediated diseases [189,190]. In this scenario, systemic administration of BMSCs induces peripheral tolerance, and the BMSCs then migrate to injured tissues, where they inhibit the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and promote the survival of damaged cells [190]. The immunomodulatory effects of BMSCs have been examined in a various animal models of immune-mediated inflammatory diseases, including rheumatoid arthritis [191], osteoporosis [192], diabetes [193], acute renal failure [194], acute lung injury [195] and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) [196]. In addition, an immunosuppressive effect of infused MSCs in patients has been successfully shown in graft-versus-host disease (GVHD) [197] and refractory inflammatory bowel disease [198]. However, the specific mechanism underlying the immunomodulatory effect of MSCs is still unclear; therefore, many questions need to be addressed before the therapeutic promise of these cells can be realized.

### 7.2. Possible applications of the MSC-based immunotherapy in dentistry

Several reports have revealed that stem cells derived from oral tissues possess unique immunomodulatory properties. Ding et al. [130] transplanted allogeneic PDLSC sheets into a pig periodontitis model and demonstrated low immunogenicity and marked immunosuppressive function exerted *via*prostaglandin E2 (PGE2)-induced T-cell anergy. PDLSCs, SCAP and dental pulp stem cells have also been reported to possess *in vitro* immunosuppressive properties [199–201]. The immunoregulatory characteristics of these dental stem cells may provide new therapeutic strategies, such as allogeneic stem-cell-based therapies and the treatment or prevention of T cell alloreactivity in allogeneic transplantation.

Other MSC-based immunotherapeutic strategies in dentistry involve the systemic delivery of MSCs including dental MSCs. The predominance of tissue-destructive IL-17-producing Th17 cells and decreased number and function of tissue-protective Tregs has been confirmed in various inflammatory states, including autoimmune disease [202]. Yamaza et al. [203] demonstrated that stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHED) inhibit Th17 cell differentiation, whereas they increase the number of Tregs in vitro. Yamaza et al. also demonstrated that systemic SHED transplantation improved SLE phenotypes in the SLE mouse model, which showed an increase in the ratio between Tregs and Th17 cells. Kikuiri et al. [204] demonstrated that systemic infusion with allogeneic BMSCs prevented and cured bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaw (BRONJ)-like disease in mice, possibly via the induction of peripheral tolerance, which was shown as an inhibition of Th17 and increase in the number of Treg cells. Zhang et al. [205] demonstrated that cell-based therapy using a systemic infusion of gingiva-derived MSCs ameliorated experimental colitis in mice by suppressing inflammatory cell infiltration and proinflammatory cytokine secretion as well as by increasing Treg accumulation and IL-10 expression at local intestinal sites. El-Menoufy et al. [206] demonstrated that oral ulcer healing was accelerated by the injection of autologous BMSCs around chemically induced oral ulcers in the oral cavity of dogs. It was concluded that the beneficial effects of BMSCs may be mediated through the induction of angiogenesis together with increased ECM formation; however, immunomodulatory effects of BMSCs may also be involved. The therapeutic effects of systemic BMSC transplantation on impaired salivary gland function [173] may also be mediated by the immunomodulatory effects of MSCs.

These new immunomodulatory properties of MSCs will attract the attention of dental scientists not only to the differentiation of MSCs for regenerative therapy but also to the possible application of MSCs to immunotherapy. In addition, the concept of the MSC-based immunomodulation may be applicable to suppression of the local immune response during transplantation to achieve optimal tissue regeneration.

#### 8. Dental stem cell banking

Growing evidence has demonstrated that dental tissues are a rich source of MSCs [1]. Dental stem cells may be useful for regenerative and immune therapies in medical fields [203,205,207]. A recent animal study demonstrated that human dental-pulp-derived stem cells may provide greater therapeutic benefit for treating spinal cord injury than human BMSCs [207]. However, the use of a patient's own dental-tissue-derived stem cells at the time of therapeutic necessity has serious

limitations because it would require the extraction of a remaining tooth. Dental stem cell banking, *i.e.*, the process of storing stem cells obtained from patients' deciduous teeth and wisdom teeth, may be one strategy to realize the potential of dental-stem-cell-based regenerative therapy [208–210].

Recently, cell/tissue banks in the dental field have been planned and placed into practice in several countries, e.g., Advanced Center for Tissue Engineering Ltd., Tokyo, Japan (http://www.acte-group.com/); Teeth Bank Co., Ltd., Hiroshima, Japan (http://www.teethbank.jp/); Store-A-ToothTM, Lexington, USA (http://www.store-a-tooth.com/); BioEDEN, Austin, USA (http://www.bioeden.com/) and Stemade Biotech Pvt. Ltd., Mumbai, India (http://www.stemade.com/). Once stem-cell-containing tissues, such as PDL, pulp tissues, apical papilla, or the tooth itself, are obtained from the patient, they can be cryopreserved for many years to retain their regenerative potential [201,211,212]. Dental stem cells can be isolated from the cryopreserved tissue/tooth whenever required for future regenerative therapies [208,210,213]. These autologous stem cells given to a patient would be recognized as host cells and should therefore be tolerated by the immune system

Although successful autologous transplantation of banked teeth has been achieved in the clinic (http://www.teethbank.jp/), stem-cell-based tissue engineering therapies using stem cell banking have not yet been reported. Therefore, the utility of stem cell banking in dentistry should be carefully evaluated. In addition, legislation for the banking system is necessary because it provides bio-insurance for a future use that is highly unlikely. Checks and audits must be conducted to determine whether the banking company can operate well into the future, and whether the cryopreserved cells and tissues are maintained in good quality for future use in transplantation.

#### 9. Conclusion

We have entered a new era in the regeneration of orofacial bone, where molecular enhancement by osteoinductive materials and stem-cell-based therapies can be used to improve and expedite clinical outcomes. Current active research areas of stem-cell-based therapy in dentistry are focused on tissue engineering and chair-side cellular grafting approaches that may result in more predictable regenerative outcomes in the future. More intensive basic and translational research is necessary, and clinical randomized controlled trials with long durations should be performed to advance the field using scientific evidence that can ultimately offer long-term benefits to patients.

Local immune responses by the host cells against the grafting materials are highly relevant in tissue engineering and regenerative medicine. We believe that a complete understanding of biological processes on both donor and recipient sides during bone regeneration is crucial to design new and more effective clinical strategies for stem-cell-based bone regeneration. In addition, the recently observed immunomodulatory function of MSCs may be applicable to strategies of how to suppress the local immune response during transplantation to achieve optimal tissue regeneration.

Conventionally, individuals working in the prosthodontic field rarely perform basic biological studies. However, the increased requirement for new technologies for implant dentistry is encouraging prosthodontists to be involved in or at least understand regenerative medicine, including stem cell biology. Based on the accumulated laboratory and clinical evidence, a road map to establish "stem-cell-based dentistry" should thus be presented by authorized organizations, including those related to the field of prosthodontics, as a solid consensus toward the future of dentistry.

#### **Conflict of interest statement**

All authors state that they have no conflict of interest.

#### Acknowledgements

This review article was written as a project proposed by the Journal of Prosthodontic Research (JPR) Editorial Committee under the support of the Japan Prosthodontic Society (JPS). The authors thank Prof. Takuo Kuboki, the Editor-in-Chief of the JPR, and Prof. Kiyoshi Koyano, the President of the JPS, for their valuable support to accomplish this work. Support was also received from a Grant-in-Aid for Young Scientists (A22689049: H.E. and A22689050: W.S.) and for Scientific Research (B22390367: M.N.) from the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science.

#### References

- Egusa H, Sonoyama W, Nishimura M, Atsuta I, Akiyama K. Stem cells in dentistry – Part I: Stem cell sources. J Prosthodont Res 2012;56:151–65.
- [2] Moghadam HG. Vertical and horizontal bone augmentation with the intraoral autogenous J-graft. Implant Dent 2009;18:230–8.
- [3] Egusa H. iPS cells in dentistry. Clin Calcium 2012;22:67-73.
- [4] Koyano K. Toward a new era in prosthodontic medicine. J Prosthodont Res 2012;56:1–2.
- [5] Langer R, Vacanti JP. Tissue engineering. Science 1993;260:920-6.
- [6] Izumi K, Feinberg SE, Iida A, Yoshizawa M. Intraoral grafting of an ex vivo produced oral mucosa equivalent: a preliminary report. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2003;32:188–97.
- [7] Costello BJ, Shah G, Kumta P, Sfeir CS. Regenerative medicine for craniomaxillofacial surgery. Oral Maxillofac Surg Clin North Am 2010;22:33–42.
- [8] Izumi Y, Aoki A, Yamada Y, Kobayashi H, Iwata T, Akizuki T, et al. Current and future periodontal tissue engineering. Periodontology 2000 2011;56:166–87.
- [9] Buser DA, Tonetti M. Clinical trials on implants in regenerated bone. Ann Periodontol 1997;2:329–42.
- [10] Iwasaki A, Matsumoto T, Tazaki G, Tsuruta H, Egusa H, Miyajima H, et al. Mass fabrication of small cell spheroids by using micro-patterned tissue culture plate. Adv Eng Mater 2009;11:801–4.
- [11] Sasaki J, Asoh TA, Matsumoto T, Egusa H, Sohmura T, Alsberg E, et al. Fabrication of three-dimensional cell constructs using temperature-responsive hydrogel. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16:2497–504.
- [12] Sasaki JI, Matsumoto T, Egusa H, Nakano T, Ishimoto T, Sohmura T, et al. In vitro engineering of transitional tissue by patterning and functional control of cells in fibrin gel. Soft Matter 2010;6:1662–7.
- [13] Egusa H, Okita K, Kayashima H, Yu G, Fukuyasu S, Saeki M, et al. Gingival fibroblasts as a promising source of induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One 2010;5:e12743.

- [14] Tamaoki N, Takahashi K, Tanaka T, Ichisaka T, Aoki H, Takeda-Kawaguchi T, et al. Dental pulp cells for induced pluripotent stem cell banking. J Dent Res 2010;89:773–8.
- [15] Yan X, Qin H, Qu C, Tuan RS, Shi S, Huang GT. iPS cells reprogrammed from mesenchymal-like stem/progenitor cells of dental tissue origin. Stem Cells Dev 2010;19:469–80.
- [16] Needleman IG, Worthington HV, Giedrys-Leeper E, Tucker RJ. Guided tissue regeneration for periodontal infra-bony defects. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2006;CD001724.
- [17] Gottlow J, Nyman S, Lindhe J, Karring T, Wennstrom J. New attachment formation in the human periodontium by guided tissue regeneration. Case reports. J Clin Periodontol 1986;13:604–16.
- [18] Nyman S, Gottlow J, Lindhe J, Karring T, Wennstrom J. New attachment formation by guided tissue regeneration. J Periodontal Res 1987;22:252–4.
- [19] Karring T, Nyman S, Gottlow J, Laurell L. Development of the biological concept of guided tissue regeneration – animal and human studies. Periodontology 2000 1993;1:26–35.
- [20] LeGeros RZ. Calcium phosphate-based osteoinductive materials. Chem Rev 2008;108:4742–53.
- [21] Kubo T, Doi K, Hayashi K, Morita K, Matsuura A, Teixeira ER, et al. Comparative evaluation of bone regeneration using spherical and irregularly shaped granules of interconnected porous hydroxylapatite. A beagle dog study. J Prosthodont Res 2011;55:104–9.
- [22] LeGeros RZ. Properties of osteoconductive biomaterials: calcium phosphates. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2002;81–98.
- [23] Klinge B, Flemmig TF. Tissue augmentation and esthetics (Working Group 3). Clin Oral Implants Res 2009;20(Suppl 4):166–70.
- [24] Darby I. Periodontal materials. Aust Dent J 2011;56(Suppl 1):107-18.
- [25] MacIntosh AC, Kearns VR, Crawford A, Hatton PV. Skeletal tissue engineering using silk biomaterials. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2008;2:71–80.
- [26] Mandal BB, Grinberg A, Gil ES, Panilaitis B, Kaplan DL. High-strength silk protein scaffolds for bone repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2012;109:7699–704.
- [27] Sundelacruz S, Kaplan DL. Stem cell- and scaffold-based tissue engineering approaches to osteochondral regenerative medicine. Semin Cell Dev Biol 2009;20:646–55.
- [28] Ode A, Duda GN, Glaeser JD, Matziolis G, Frauenschuh S, Perka C, et al. Toward biomimetic materials in bone regeneration: functional behavior of mesenchymal stem cells on a broad spectrum of extracellular matrix components. J Biomed Mater Res A 2010;95:1114–24.
- [29] Egusa H, Kaneda Y, Akashi Y, Hamada Y, Matsumoto T, Saeki M, et al. Enhanced bone regeneration via multimodal actions of synthetic peptide SVVYGLR on osteoprogenitors and osteoclasts. Biomaterials 2009;30:4676–86.
- [30] Hamada Y, Egusa H, Kaneda Y, Hirata I, Kawaguchi N, Hirao T, et al. Synthetic osteopontin-derived peptide SVVYGLR can induce neovascularization in artificial bone marrow scaffold biomaterials. Dent Mater J 2007;26:487–92.
- [31] Egusa H, Saeki M, Doi M, Fukuyasu S, Matsumoto T, Kamisaki Y, et al. A small-molecule approach to bone regenerative medicine in dentistry. J Oral Biosci 2010;52:107–18.
- [32] Decaris ML, Mojadedi A, Bhat A, Leach JK. Transferable cell-secreted extracellular matrices enhance osteogenic differentiation. Acta Biomater 2012;8:744–52.
- [33] Long F. Building strong bones: molecular regulation of the osteoblast lineage. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2012;13:27–38.
- [34] Teti A. Bone development: overview of bone cells and signaling. Curr Osteoporos Rep 2011;9:264–73.
- [35] Intini G. The use of platelet-rich plasma in bone reconstruction therapy. Biomaterials 2009;30:4956–66.
- [36] Yamada Y, Ueda M, Hibi H, Baba S. A novel approach to periodontal tissue regeneration with mesenchymal stem cells and platelet-rich plasma using tissue engineering technology: a clinical case report. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2006;26:363–9.
- [37] Fu JH, Wang HL. Platelet-rich plasma has no additional benefit during guided tissue regeneration procedure to significantly improve clinical attachment gains in the treatment of periodontal intrabony defects. J Evidence Based Dent Pract 2012;12:5–7.

- [38] Ozdemir B, Okte E. Treatment of intrabony defects with beta-tricalciumphosphate alone and in combination with platelet-rich plasma. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater 2012;100:976–83.
- [39] Torres J, Tamimi F, Martinez PP, Alkhraisat MH, Linares R, Hernandez G, et al. Effect of platelet-rich plasma on sinus lifting: a randomizedcontrolled clinical trial. J Clin Periodontol 2009;36:677–87.
- [40] Arora NS, Ramanayake T, Ren YF, Romanos GE. Platelet-rich plasma in sinus augmentation procedures: a systematic literature review: Part II. Implant Dent 2010;19:145–57.
- [41] Hammarstrom L. Enamel matrix, cementum development and regeneration. J Clin Periodontol 1997;24:658–68.
- [42] Sculean A, Schwarz F, Becker J, Brecx M. The application of an enamel matrix protein derivative (Emdogain) in regenerative periodontal therapy: a review. Med Princ Pract 2007;16:167–80.
- [43] Kawase T, Okuda K, Yoshie H, Burns DM. Cytostatic action of enamel matrix derivative (EMDOGAIN) on human oral squamous cell carcinoma-derived SCC25 epithelial cells. J Periodontal Res 2000;35:291–300.
- [44] Rathe F, Junker R, Chesnutt BM, Jansen JA. The effect of enamel matrix derivative (Emdogain) on bone formation: a systematic review. Tissue Eng Part B Rev 2009;15:215–24.
- [45] Taba Jr M, Jin Q, Sugai JV, Giannobile WV. Current concepts in periodontal bioengineering. Orthod Craniofac Res 2005;8:292–302.
- [46] Wikesjo UM, Qahash M, Huang YH, Xiropaidis A, Polimeni G, Susin C. Bone morphogenetic proteins for periodontal and alveolar indications; biological observations – clinical implications. Orthod Craniofac Res 2009;12:263–70.
- [47] Javed F, Al-Askar M, Al-Rasheed A, Al-Hezaimi K. Significance of the platelet-derived growth factor in periodontal tissue regeneration. Arch Oral Biol 2011;56:1476–84.
- [48] Kaigler D, Avila G, Wisner-Lynch L, Nevins ML, Nevins M, Rasperini G, et al. Platelet-derived growth factor applications in periodontal and peri-implant bone regeneration. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2011;11:375–85.
- [49] Kitamura M, Akamatsu M, Machigashira M, Hara Y, Sakagami R, Hirofuji T, et al. FGF-2 stimulates periodontal regeneration: results of a multi-center randomized clinical trial. J Dent Res 2011;90:35–40.
- [50] Murakami S. Periodontal tissue regeneration by signaling molecule(s): what role does basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2) have in periodontal therapy? Periodontology 2000 2011;56:188–208.
- [51] Urist MR. Bone: formation by autoinduction. Science 1965;150:893-9.
- [52] Urist MR, Strates BS. Bone morphogenetic protein. J Dent Res 1971;50:1392–406.
- [53] Li X, Cao X. BMP signaling and skeletogenesis. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006;1068:26–40.
- [54] Duprez DM, Coltey M, Amthor H, Brickell PM, Tickle C. Bone morphogenetic protein-2 (BMP-2) inhibits muscle development and promotes cartilage formation in chick limb bud cultures. Dev Biol 1996;174:448–52.
- [55] Tsuji K, Bandyopadhyay A, Harfe BD, Cox K, Kakar S, Gerstenfeld L, et al. BMP2 activity, although dispensable for bone formation, is required for the initiation of fracture healing. Nat Genet 2006;38:1424–9.
- [56] Andrae J, Gallini R, Betsholtz C. Role of platelet-derived growth factors in physiology and medicine. Genes Dev 2008;22:1276–312.
- [57] Ribatti D, Nico B, Crivellato E. The role of pericytes in angiogenesis. Int J Dev Biol 2011;55:261–8.
- [58] Nevins M, Kao RT, McGuire MK, McClain PK, Hinrichs JE, McAllister BS, et al. PDGF Promotes periodontal regeneration in localized osseous defects: 36 month extension results from a randomized, controlled, double-masked clinical trial. J Periodontol, <u>in press</u>.
- [59] Akagawa Y, Kubo T, Koretake K, Hayashi K, Doi K, Matsuura A, et al. Initial bone regeneration around fenestrated implants in Beagle dogs using basic fibroblast growth factor-gelatin hydrogel complex with varying biodegradation rates. J Prosthodont Res 2009;53:41–7.
- [60] Kitamura M, Nakashima K, Kowashi Y, Fujii T, Shimauchi H, Sasano T, et al. Periodontal tissue regeneration using fibroblast growth factor-2: randomized controlled phase II clinical trial. PLoS One 2008;3:e2611.
- [61] Osugi M, Katagiri W, Yoshimi R, Inukai T, Hibi HDP, Ueda M. Conditioned media from mesenchymal stem cells enhanced bone regeneration in rat calvarial bone defects. Tissue Eng Part A 2012;18:1479–89.

- [62] Sahrmann P, Attin T, Schmidlin PR. Regenerative treatment of periimplantitis using bone substitutes and membrane: a systematic review. Clin Implant Dent Relat Res 2011;13:46–57.
- [63] Ivanovski S. Periodontal regeneration. Aust Dent J 2009;54(Suppl 1):118–28.
- [64] Becker W, Becker BE, Caffesse R. A comparison of demineralized freeze-dried bone and autologous bone to induce bone formation in human extraction sockets. J Periodontol 1994;65:1128–33.
- [65] Crespi R, Vinci R, Cappare P, Gherlone E, Romanos GE. Calvarial versus iliac crest for autologous bone graft material for a sinus lift procedure: a histomorphometric study. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2007;22:527–32.
- [66] Aghaloo TL, Tuan RS, Schmitz JP, Aboud M, Amet E, Cardaropoli G, et al. The academy of osseointegration silver anniversary summit: impact of biological & technological advances on implant dentistry (stem cell therapy group report). Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2011;26 (Suppl):63–9.
- [67] Brånemark PI, Hansson BO, Adell R, Breine U, Lindstrom J, Hallen O, et al. Osseointegrated implants in the treatment of the edentulous jaw. Experience from a 10-year period. Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg 1977;16(Suppl):1–132.
- [68] De Backer H, Van Maele G, De Moor N, Van den Berghe L, De Boever J. A 20-year retrospective survival study of fixed partial dentures. Int J Prosthodont 2006;19:143–53.
- [69] Kuboki T, Okamoto S, Suzuki H, Kanyama M, Arakawa H, Sonoyama W, et al. Quality of life assessment of bone-anchored fixed partial denture patients with unilateral mandibular distal-extension edentulism. J Prosthet Dent 1999;82:182–7.
- [70] Sonoyama W, Kuboki T, Okamoto S, Suzuki H, Arakawa H, Kanyama M, et al. Quality of life assessment in patients with implant-supported and resin-bonded fixed prosthesis for bounded edentulous spaces. Clin Oral Implants Res 2002;13:359–64.
- [71] Brånemark PI. Osseointegration and its experimental background. J Prosthet Dent 1983;50:399–410.
- [72] Heij DG, Opdebeeck H, van Steenberghe D, Kokich VG, Belser U, Quirynen M. Facial development, continuous tooth eruption, and mesial drift as compromising factors for implant placement. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2006;21:867–78.
- [73] Op Heij DG, Opdebeeck H, van Steenberghe D, Quirynen M. Age as compromising factor for implant insertion. Periodontology 2000 2003;33:172–84.
- [74] Oesterle LJ, Cronin Jr RJ, Ranly DM. Maxillary implants and the growing patient. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 1993;8:377–87.
- [75] Cronin Jr RJ, Oesterle LJ, Ranly DM. Mandibular implants and the growing patient. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 1994;9:55–62.
- [76] Chen ST, Buser D. Clinical and esthetic outcomes of implants placed in postextraction sites. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2009;24(Suppl): 186–217.
- [77] Cosyn J, Eghbali A, De Bruyn H, Collys K, Cleymaet R, De Rouck T. Immediate single-tooth implants in the anterior maxilla: 3-year results of a case series on hard and soft tissue response and aesthetics. J Clin Periodontol 2011;38:746–53.
- [78] Johansson A, Omar R, Carlsson GE. Bruxism and prosthetic treatment: a critical review. J Prosthodont Res 2011;55:127–36.
- [79] Egusa H, Ko N, Shimazu T, Yatani H. Suspected association of an allergic reaction with titanium dental implants: a clinical report. J Prosthet Dent 2008;100:344–7.
- [80] Siddiqi A, Payne AG, De Silva RK, Duncan WJ. Titanium allergy: could it affect dental implant integration? Clin Oral Implants Res 2011;22: 673–80.
- [81] Schmelzeisen R, Schimming R, Sittinger M. Making bone: implant insertion into tissue-engineered bone for maxillary sinus floor augmentation-a preliminary report. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2003;31:34–9.
- [82] Schimming R, Schmelzeisen R. Tissue-engineered bone for maxillary sinus augmentation. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2004;62:724–9.
- [83] Springer IN, Nocini PF, Schlegel KA, De Santis D, Park J, Warnke PH, et al. Two techniques for the preparation of cell-scaffold constructs suitable for sinus augmentation: steps into clinical application. Tissue Eng 2006;12:2649–56.

- [84] Zizelmann C, Schoen R, Metzger MC, Schmelzeisen R, Schramm A, Dott B, et al. Bone formation after sinus augmentation with engineered bone. Clin Oral Implants Res 2007;18:69–73.
- [85] Beaumont C, Schmidt RJ, Tatakis DN, Zafiropoulos GG. Use of engineered bone for sinus augmentation. J Periodontol 2008;79:541–8.
- [86] Voss P, Sauerbier S, Wiedmann-Al-Ahmad M, Zizelmann C, Stricker A, Schmelzeisen R, et al. Bone regeneration in sinus lifts: comparing tissueengineered bone and iliac bone. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2010;48: 121–6.
- [87] Nagata M, Hoshina H, Li M, Arasawa M, Uematsu K, Ogawa S, et al. A clinical study of alveolar bone tissue engineering with cultured autogenous periosteal cells: coordinated activation of bone formation and resorption. Bone 2012;50:1123–9.
- [88] Kulakov AA, Goldshtein DV, Grigoryan AS, Rzhaninova AA, Alekseeva IS, Arutyunyan IV, et al. Clinical study of the efficiency of combined cell transplant on the basis of multipotent mesenchymal stromal adipose tissue cells in patients with pronounced deficit of the maxillary and mandibulary bone tissue. Bull Exp Biol Med 2008;146:522–5.
- [89] Mesimäki K, Lindroos B, Törnwall J, Mauno J, Lindqvist C, Kontio R, et al. Novel maxillary reconstruction with ectopic bone formation by GMP adipose stem cells. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;38:201–9.
- [90] d'Aquino R, De Rosa A, Lanza V, Tirino V, Laino L, Graziano A, et al. Human mandible bone defect repair by the grafting of dental pulp stem/ progenitor cells and collagen sponge biocomplexes. Eur Cell Mater 2009;18:75–83.
- [91] Yamada Y, Ueda M, Hibi H, Nagasaka T. Translational research for injectable tissue-engineered bone regeneration using mesenchymal stem cells and platelet-rich plasma: from basic research to clinical case study. Cell Transplant 2004;13:343–55.
- [92] Hibi H, Yamada Y, Ueda M, Endo Y. Alveolar cleft osteoplasty using tissue-engineered osteogenic material. Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2006;35:551–5.
- [93] Yamada Y, Nakamura S, Ito K, Kohgo T, Hibi H, Nagasaka T, et al. Injectable tissue-engineered bone using autogenous bone marrow-derived stromal cells for maxillary sinus augmentation: clinical application report from a 2-6-year follow-up. Tissue Eng Part A 2008;14:1699–707.
- [94] Yamada Y, Nakamura S, Ueda M, Ito K. Osteotome technique with injectable tissue-engineered bone and simultaneous implant placement by cell therapy. Clin Oral Implants Res, <u>in press</u>.
- [95] Meijer GJ, de Bruijn JD, Koole R, van Blitterswijk CA. Cell based bone tissue engineering in jaw defects. Biomaterials 2008;29:3053–61.
- [96] Shayesteh YS, Khojasteh A, Soleimani M, Alikhasi M, Khoshzaban A, Ahmadbeigi N. Sinus augmentation using human mesenchymal stem cells loaded into a beta-tricalcium phosphate/hydroxyapatite scaffold. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2008;106:203–9.
- [97] Kaigler D, Pagni G, Park CH, Tarle SA, Bartel RL, Giannobile WV. Angiogenic and osteogenic potential of bone repair cells for craniofacial regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16:2809–20.
- [98] Behnia H, Khojasteh A, Soleimani M, Tehranchi A, Atashi A. Repair of alveolar cleft defect with mesenchymal stem cells and platelet derived growth factors: a preliminary report. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2012;40:2–7.
- [99] Lee J, Sung HM, Jang JD, Park YW, Min SK, Kim EC. Successful reconstruction of 15-cm segmental defects by bone marrow stem cells and resected autogenous bone graft in central hemangioma. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2010;68:188–94.
- [100] Kaigler D, Pagni G, Park CH, Braun T, Holman LA, Yi E, et al. Stem cell therapy for craniofacial bone regeneration: a randomized, controlled, feasibility trial. Cell Transplant, <u>in press</u>.
- [101] Filho Cerruti H, Kerkis I, Kerkis A, Tatsui NH, da Costa Neves A, Bueno DF, et al. Allogenous bone grafts improved by bone marrow stem cells and platelet growth factors: clinical case reports. Artif Organs 2007;31:268–73.
- [102] Wongchuensoontorn C, Liebehenschel N, Schwarz U, Schmelzeisen R, Gutwald R, Ellis 3rd E, et al. Application of a new chair-side method for the harvest of mesenchymal stem cells in a patient with nonunion of a fracture of the atrophic mandible – a case report. J Craniomaxillofac Surg 2009;37:155–61.

- [103] Sauerbier S, Stricker A, Kuschnierz J, Buhler F, Oshima T, Xavier SP, et al. In vivo comparison of hard tissue regeneration with human mesenchymal stem cells processed with either the FICOLL method or the BMAC method. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2010;16:215–23.
- [104] Rickert D, Sauerbier S, Nagursky H, Menne D, Vissink A, Raghoebar GM. Maxillary sinus floor elevation with bovine bone mineral combined with either autogenous bone or autogenous stem cells: a prospective randomized clinical trial. Clin Oral Implants Res 2011;22:251–8.
- [105] Sauerbier S, Rickert D, Gutwald R, Nagursky H, Oshima T, Xavier SP, et al. Bone marrow concentrate and bovine bone mineral for sinus floor augmentation: a controlled, randomized, single-blinded clinical and histological trial – per-protocol analysis. Tissue Eng Part A 2011;17: 2187–97.
- [106] Schmelzeisen R, Gutwald R, Oshima T, Nagursky H, Vogeler M, Sauerbier S. Making bone II: maxillary sinus augmentation with mononuclear cells – case report with a new clinical method. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2011;49:480–2.
- [107] McAllister BS, Haghighat K, Gonshor A. Histologic evaluation of a stem cell-based sinus-augmentation procedure. J Periodontol 2009;80: 679–86.
- [108] Gonshor A, McAllister BS, Wallace SS, Prasad H. Histologic and histomorphometric evaluation of an allograft stem cell-based matrix sinus augmentation procedure. Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants 2011;26:123–31.
- [109] Smiler D, Soltan M. Bone marrow aspiration: technique, grafts, and reports. Implant Dent 2006;15:229–35.
- [110] Smiler D, Soltan M, Lee JW. A histomorphogenic analysis of bone grafts augmented with adult stem cells. Implant Dent 2007;16:42–53.
- [111] Soltan M, Smiler D, Prasad HS, Rohrer MD. Bone block allograft impregnated with bone marrow aspirate. Implant Dent 2007;16:329–39.
- [112] Caplan AI. Mesenchymal stem cells. J Orthop Res 1991;9:641-50.
- [113] Chen J, Li Y, Wang L, Zhang Z, Lu D, Lu M, et al. Therapeutic benefit of intravenous administration of bone marrow stromal cells after cerebral ischemia in rats. Stroke 2001;32:1005–11.
- [114] Mahmood A, Lu D, Chopp M. Marrow stromal cell transplantation after traumatic brain injury promotes cellular proliferation within the brain. Neurosurgery 2004;55:1185–93.
- [115] Zhou Y, Wang S, Yu Z, Hoyt Jr RF, Sachdev V, Vincent P, et al. Direct injection of autologous mesenchymal stromal cells improves myocardial function. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2009;390:902–7.
- [116] Shimizu T, Yamato M, Kikuchi A, Okano T. Two-dimensional manipulation of cardiac myocyte sheets utilizing temperature-responsive culture dishes augments the pulsatile amplitude. Tissue Eng 2001;7:141–51.
- [117] Nishida K, Yamato M, Hayashida Y, Watanabe K, Yamamoto K, Adachi E, et al. Corneal reconstruction with tissue-engineered cell sheets composed of autologous oral mucosal epithelium. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1187–96.
- [118] Kanzaki M, Yamato M, Hatakeyama H, Kohno C, Yang J, Umemoto T, et al. Tissue engineered epithelial cell sheets for the creation of a bioartificial trachea. Tissue Eng 2006;12:1275–83.
- [119] Ohki T, Yamato M, Murakami D, Takagi R, Yang J, Namiki H, et al. Treatment of oesophageal ulcerations using endoscopic transplantation of tissue-engineered autologous oral mucosal epithelial cell sheets in a canine model. Gut 2006;55:1704–10.
- [120] Gao Z, Chen F, Zhang J, He L, Cheng X, Ma Q, et al. Vitalisation of tubular coral scaffolds with cell sheets for regeneration of long bones: a preliminary study in nude mice. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2009;47: 116–22.
- [121] Yang B, Chen G, Li J, Zou Q, Xie D, Chen Y, et al. Tooth root regeneration using dental follicle cell sheets in combination with a dentin matrix-based scaffold. Biomaterials 2012;33:2449–61.
- [122] Zhou Y, Chen F, Ho ST, Woodruff MA, Lim TM, Hutmacher DW. Combined marrow stromal cell-sheet techniques and high-strength biodegradable composite scaffolds for engineered functional bone grafts. Biomaterials 2007;28:814–24.
- [123] Flores MG, Hasegawa M, Yamato M, Takagi R, Okano T, Ishikawa I. Cementum-periodontal ligament complex regeneration using the cell sheet technique. J Periodontal Res 2008;43:364–71.

- [124] Iwata T, Yamato M, Tsuchioka H, Takagi R, Mukobata S, Washio K, et al. Periodontal regeneration with multi-layered periodontal ligamentderived cell sheets in a canine model. Biomaterials 2009;30:2716–23.
- [125] Yang Z, Jin F, Zhang X, Ma D, Han C, Huo N, et al. Tissue engineering of cementum/periodontal-ligament complex using a novel three-dimensional pellet cultivation system for human periodontal ligament stem cells. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2009;15:571–81.
- [126] Akizuki T, Oda S, Komaki M, Tsuchioka H, Kawakatsu N, Kikuchi A, et al. Application of periodontal ligament cell sheet for periodontal regeneration: a pilot study in beagle dogs. J Periodontal Res 2005;40: 245–51.
- [127] Hasegawa M, Yamato M, Kikuchi A, Okano T, Ishikawa I. Human periodontal ligament cell sheets can regenerate periodontal ligament tissue in an athymic rat model. Tissue Eng 2005;11:469–78.
- [128] Flores MG, Yashiro R, Washio K, Yamato M, Okano T, Ishikawa I. Periodontal ligament cell sheet promotes periodontal regeneration in athymic rats. J Clin Periodontol 2008;35:1066–72.
- [129] Zhou Y, Li Y, Mao L, Peng H. Periodontal healing by periodontal ligament cell sheets in a teeth replantation model. Arch Oral Biol 2012;57:169–76.
- [130] Ding G, Liu Y, Wang W, Wei F, Liu D, Fan Z, et al. Allogeneic periodontal ligament stem cell therapy for periodontitis in swine. Stem Cells 2010;28:1829–38.
- [131] Wei F, Qu C, Song T, Ding G, Fan Z, Liu D, et al. Vitamin C treatment promotes mesenchymal stem cell sheet formation and tissue regeneration by elevating telomerase activity. J Cell Physiol 2012;227:3216–24.
- [132] Tsumanuma Y, Iwata T, Washio K, Yoshida T, Yamada A, Takagi R, et al. Comparison of different tissue-derived stem cell sheets for periodontal regeneration in a canine 1-wall defect model. Biomaterials 2011;32:5819–25.
- [133] Iwata T, Yamato M, Zhang Z, Mukobata S, Washio K, Ando T, et al. Validation of human periodontal ligament-derived cells as a reliable source for cytotherapeutic use. J Clin Periodontol 2010;37:1088–99.
- [134] Washio K, Iwata T, Mizutani M, Ando T, Yamato M, Okano T, et al. Assessment of cell sheets derived from human periodontal ligament cells: a pre-clinical study. Cell Tissue Res 2010;341:397–404.
- [135] Yoshida T, Washio K, Iwata T, Okano T, Ishikawa I. Current status and future development of cell transplantation therapy for periodontal tissue regeneration. Int J Dent 2012;2012:307024.
- [136] Kawase T, Okuda K, Kogami H, Nakayama H, Nagata M, Nakata K, et al. Characterization of human cultured periosteal sheets expressing boneforming potential: in vitro and in vivo animal studies. J Tissue Eng Regen Med 2009;3:218–29.
- [137] Bai Y, Bai Y, Matsuzaka K, Hashimoto S, Fukuyama T, Wu L, et al. Cementum- and periodontal ligament-like tissue formation by dental follicle cell sheets co-cultured with Hertwig's epithelial root sheath cells. Bone 2011;48:1417–26.
- [138] Meijer GJ, de Bruijn JD, Koole R, van Blitterswijk CA. Cell-based bone tissue engineering. PLoS Med 2007;4:e9.
- [139] Pieri F, Lucarelli E, Corinaldesi G, Aldini NN, Fini M, Parrilli A, et al. Dose-dependent effect of adipose-derived adult stem cells on vertical bone regeneration in rabbit calvarium. Biomaterials 2010;31:3527–35.
- [140] Zimmermann CE, Gierloff M, Hedderich J, Acil Y, Wiltfang J, Terheyden H. Survival of transplanted rat bone marrow-derived osteogenic stem cells in vivo. Tissue Eng Part A 2011;17:1147–56.
- [141] Quintavalla J, Uziel Fusi S, Yin J, Boehnlein E, Pastor G, Blancuzzi V, et al. Fluorescently labeled mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) maintain multilineage potential and can be detected following implantation into articular cartilage defects. Biomaterials 2002;23:109–19.
- [142] Boukhechba F, Balaguer T, Bouvet-Gerbettaz S, Michiels JF, Bouler JM, Carle GF, et al. Fate of bone marrow stromal cells in a syngenic model of bone formation. Tissue Eng Part A 2011;17:2267–78.
- [143] Tasso R, Fais F, Reverberi D, Tortelli F, Cancedda R. The recruitment of two consecutive and different waves of host stem/progenitor cells during the development of tissue-engineered bone in a murine model. Biomaterials 2010;31:2121–9.
- [144] Agata H, Asahina I, Watanabe N, Ishii Y, Kubo N, Ohshima S, et al. Characteristic change and loss of in vivo osteogenic abilities of human

bone marrow stromal cells during passage. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16:663-73.

- [145] Meuleman N, Tondreau T, Delforge A, Dejeneffe M, Massy M, Libertalis M, et al. Human marrow mesenchymal stem cell culture: serum-free medium allows better expansion than classical alpha-MEM medium. Eur J Haematol 2006;76:309–16.
- [146] Agata H, Watanabe N, Ishii Y, Kubo N, Ohshima S, Yamazaki M, et al. Feasibility and efficacy of bone tissue engineering using human bone marrow stromal cells cultivated in serum-free conditions. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2009;382:353–8.
- [147] Chai YC, Roberts SJ, Desmet E, Kerckhofs G, van Gastel N, Geris L, et al. Mechanisms of ectopic bone formation by human osteoprogenitor cells on CaP biomaterial carriers. Biomaterials 2012;33:3127–42.
- [148] Castano-Izquierdo H, Alvarez-Barreto J, van den Dolder J, Jansen JA, Mikos AG, Sikavitsas VI. Pre-culture period of mesenchymal stem cells in osteogenic media influences their in vivo bone forming potential. J Biomed Mater Res A 2007;82:129–38.
- [149] Niemeyer P, Vohrer J, Schmal H, Kasten P, Fellenberg J, Suedkamp NP, et al. Survival of human mesenchymal stromal cells from bone marrow and adipose tissue after xenogenic transplantation in immunocompetent mice. Cytotherapy 2008;10:784–95.
- [150] Liu Y, Wang L, Kikuiri T, Akiyama K, Chen C, Xu X, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-based tissue regeneration is governed by recipient T lymphocytes via IFN-gamma and TNF-alpha. Nat Med 2011;17:1594–601.
- [151] Ren G, Zhang L, Zhao X, Xu G, Zhang Y, Roberts AI, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated immunosuppression occurs via concerted action of chemokines and nitric oxide. Cell Stem Cell 2008;2:141–50.
- [152] Nauta AJ, Fibbe WE. Immunomodulatory properties of mesenchymal stromal cells. Blood 2007;110:3499–506.
- [153] Aggarwal S, Pittenger MF. Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. Blood 2005;105:1815–22.
- [154] Maccario R, Podesta M, Moretta A, Cometa A, Comoli P, Montagna D, et al. Interaction of human mesenchymal stem cells with cells involved in alloantigen-specific immune response favors the differentiation of CD4+ T-cell subsets expressing a regulatory/suppressive phenotype. Haematologica 2005;90:516–25.
- [155] Akiyama K, Chen C, Wang D, Xu X, Qu C, Yamaza T, et al. Mesenchymal-stem-cell-induced immunoregulation involves FAS-ligand-/FASmediated T cell apoptosis. Cell Stem Cell 2012;10:544–55.
- [156] Beyth S, Borovsky Z, Mevorach D, Liebergall M, Gazit Z, Aslan H, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cells alter antigen-presenting cell maturation and induce T-cell unresponsiveness. Blood 2005;105:2214–9.
- [157] Solari MG, Srinivasan S, Boumaza I, Unadkat J, Harb G, Garcia-Ocana A, et al. Marginal mass islet transplantation with autologous mesenchymal stem cells promotes long-term islet allograft survival and sustained normoglycemia. J Autoimmun 2009;32:116–24.
- [158] Casiraghi F, Azzollini N, Cassis P, Imberti B, Morigi M, Cugini D, et al. Pretransplant infusion of mesenchymal stem cells prolongs the survival of a semiallogeneic heart transplant through the generation of regulatory T cells. J Immunol 2008;181:3933–46.
- [159] Niemeyer P, Schonberger TS, Hahn J, Kasten P, Fellenberg J, Suedkamp N, et al. Xenogenic transplantation of human mesenchymal stem cells in a critical size defect of the sheep tibia for bone regeneration. Tissue Eng Part A 2010;16:33–43.
- [160] Ikeda E, Tsuji T. Growing bioengineered teeth from single cells: potential for dental regenerative medicine. Expert Opin Biol Ther 2008;8: 735–44.
- [161] Sonoyama W, Liu Y, Fang D, Yamaza T, Seo BM, Zhang C, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-mediated functional tooth regeneration in swine. PLoS One 2006;1:e79.
- [162] Ohazama A, Modino SA, Miletich I, Sharpe PT. Stem-cell-based tissue engineering of murine teeth. J Dent Res 2004;83:518–22.
- [163] Duailibi MT, Duailibi SE, Young CS, Bartlett JD, Vacanti JP, Yelick PC. Bioengineered teeth from cultured rat tooth bud cells. J Dent Res 2004;83:523–8.
- [164] Young CS, Abukawa H, Asrican R, Ravens M, Troulis MJ, Kaban LB, et al. Tissue-engineered hybrid tooth and bone. Tissue Eng 2005;11: 1599–610.

- [165] Ikeda E, Morita R, Nakao K, Ishida K, Nakamura T, Takano-Yamamoto T, et al. Fully functional bioengineered tooth replacement as an organ replacement therapy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2009;106:13475–80.
- [166] Oshima M, Mizuno M, Imamura A, Ogawa M, Yasukawa M, Yamazaki H, et al. Functional tooth regeneration using a bioengineered tooth unit as a mature organ replacement regenerative therapy. PLoS One 2011;6:e21531.
- [167] Otsu K, Kishigami R, Oikawa-Sasaki A, Fukumoto S, Yamada A, Fujiwara N, et al. Differentiation of induced pluripotent stem cells into dental mesenchymal cells. Stem Cells Dev 2011;21:1156–64.
- [168] Arakaki M, Ishikawa M, Nakamura T, Iwamoto T, Yamada A, Fukumoto E, et al. Role of epithelial-stem cell interactions during dental cell differentiation. J Biol Chem 2012;287:10590–601.
- [169] Joraku A, Sullivan CA, Yoo JJ, Atala A. Tissue engineering of functional salivary gland tissue. Laryngoscope 2005;115:244–8.
- [170] Tran SD, Wang J, Bandyopadhyay BC, Redman RS, Dutra A, Pak E, et al. Primary culture of polarized human salivary epithelial cells for use in developing an artificial salivary gland. Tissue Eng 2005;11:172–81.
- [171] Miyajima H, Matsumoto T, Sakai T, Yamaguchi S, An SH, Abe M, et al. Hydrogel-based biomimetic environment for in vitro modulation of branching morphogenesis. Biomaterials 2011;32:6754–63.
- [172] Kojima T, Kanemaru S, Hirano S, Tateya I, Ohno S, Nakamura T, et al. Regeneration of radiation damaged salivary glands with adipose-derived stromal cells. Laryngoscope 2011;121:1864–9.
- [173] Sumita Y, Liu Y, Khalili S, Maria OM, Xia D, Key S, et al. Bone marrowderived cells rescue salivary gland function in mice with head and neck irradiation. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2011;43:80–7.
- [174] Lombaert IM, Brunsting JF, Wierenga PK, Faber H, Stokman MA, Kok T, et al. Rescue of salivary gland function after stem cell transplantation in irradiated glands. PLoS One 2008;3:e2063.
- [175] Nanduri LS, Maimets M, Pringle SA, van der Zwaag M, van Os RP, Coppes RP. Regeneration of irradiated salivary glands with stem cell marker expressing cells. Radiother Oncol 2011;99:367–72.
- [176] Yu H, Yang X, Cheng J, Wang X, Shen SG. Distraction osteogenesis combined with tissue-engineered cartilage in the reconstruction of condylar osteochondral defect. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2011;69:558–64.
- [177] Alhadlaq A, Elisseeff JH, Hong L, Williams CG, Caplan AI, Sharma B, et al. Adult stem cell driven genesis of human-shaped articular condyle. Ann Biomed Eng 2004;32:911–23.
- [178] Alhadlaq A, Mao JJ. Tissue-engineered neogenesis of human-shaped mandibular condyle from rat mesenchymal stem cells. J Dent Res 2003;82:951–6.
- [179] El-Bialy T, Uludag H, Jomha N, Badylak SF. In vivo ultrasound-assisted tissue-engineered mandibular condyle: a pilot study in rabbits. Tissue Eng Part C Methods 2010;16:1315–23.
- [180] Luxameechanporn T, Hadlock T, Shyu J, Cowan D, Faquin W, Varvares M. Successful myoblast transplantation in rat tongue reconstruction. Head Neck 2006;28:517–24.
- [181] Bunaprasert T, Hadlock T, Marler J, Kobler J, Cowan D, Faquin W, et al. Tissue engineered muscle implantation for tongue reconstruction: a preliminary report. Laryngoscope 2003;113:1792–7.
- [182] Egusa H, Kobayashi M, Matsumoto T, Sasaki JI, Uraguchi S, Yatani H. Application of cyclic strain for accelerated skeletal myogenic differentiation of mouse bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells with cell alignment. Tissue Eng Part A, http://dx.doi.org/10.1089/ten. tea.2012.0164, in press.
- [183] Mendez-Ferrer S, Michurina TV, Ferraro F, Mazloom AR, Macarthur BD, Lira SA, et al. Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. Nature 2010;466:829–34.
- [184] Karp JM, Leng Teo GS. Mesenchymal stem cell homing: the devil is in the details. Cell Stem Cell 2009;4:206–16.
- [185] Bocker W, Docheva D, Prall WC, Egea V, Pappou E, Rossmann O, et al. IKK-2 is required for TNF-alpha-induced invasion and proliferation of human mesenchymal stem cells. J Mol Med (Berl) 2008;86:1183–92.
- [186] Ries C, Egea V, Karow M, Kolb H, Jochum M, Neth P. MMP-2, MT1-MMP, and TIMP-2 are essential for the invasive capacity of human mesenchymal stem cells: differential regulation by inflammatory cytokines. Blood 2007;109:4055–63.

- [187] Chamberlain G, Fox J, Ashton B, Middleton J. Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells: their phenotype, differentiation capacity, immunological features, and potential for homing. Stem Cells 2007;25:2739–49.
- [188] Salem HK, Thiemermann C. Mesenchymal stromal cells: current understanding and clinical status. Stem Cells 2010;28:585–96.
- [189] Uccelli A, Pistoia V, Moretta L. Mesenchymal stem cells: a new strategy for immunosuppression? Trends Immunol 2007;28:219–26.
- [190] Uccelli A, Moretta L, Pistoia V. Mesenchymal stem cells in health and disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2008;8:726–36.
- [191] Augello A, Tasso R, Negrini SM, Cancedda R, Pennesi G. Cell therapy using allogeneic bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells prevents tissue damage in collagen-induced arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2007;56:1175–86.
- [192] Yamaza T, Miura Y, Bi Y, Liu Y, Akiyama K, Sonoyama W, et al. Pharmacologic stem cell based intervention as a new approach to osteoporosis treatment in rodents. PLoS One 2008;3:e2615.
- [193] Lee RH, Seo MJ, Reger RL, Spees JL, Pulin AA, Olson SD, et al. Multipotent stromal cells from human marrow home to and promote repair of pancreatic islets and renal glomeruli in diabetic NOD/scid mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2006;103:17438–43.
- [194] Togel F, Hu Z, Weiss K, Isaac J, Lange C, Westenfelder C. Administered mesenchymal stem cells protect against ischemic acute renal failure through differentiation-independent mechanisms. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 2005;289:31–42.
- [195] Ortiz LA, Dutreil M, Fattman C, Pandey AC, Torres G, Go K, et al. Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist mediates the antiinflammatory and antifibrotic effect of mesenchymal stem cells during lung injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:11002–7.
- [196] Sun L, Akiyama K, Zhang H, Yamaza T, Hou Y, Zhao S, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation reverses multiorgan dysfunction in systemic lupus erythematosus mice and humans. Stem Cells 2009;27:1421–32.
- [197] Le Blanc K, Rasmusson I, Sundberg B, Gotherstrom C, Hassan M, Uzunel M, et al. Treatment of severe acute graft-versus-host disease with third party haploidentical mesenchymal stem cells. Lancet 2004;363:1439–41.
- [198] Liang J, Zhang H, Wang D, Feng X, Wang H, Hua B, et al. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in seven patients with refractory inflammatory bowel disease. Gut 2012;61:468–9.
- [199] Pierdomenico L, Bonsi L, Calvitti M, Rondelli D, Arpinati M, Chirumbolo G, et al. Multipotent mesenchymal stem cells with immunosuppressive activity can be easily isolated from dental pulp. Transplantation 2005;80:836–42.
- [200] Wada N, Menicanin D, Shi S, Bartold PM, Gronthos S. Immunomodulatory properties of human periodontal ligament stem cells. J Cell Physiol 2009;219:667–76.
- [201] Ding G, Wang W, Liu Y, An Y, Zhang C, Shi S, et al. Effect of cryopreservation on biological and immunological properties of stem cells from apical papilla. J Cell Physiol 2010;223:415–22.
- [202] Hanidziar D, Koulmanda M. Inflammation and the balance of Treg and Th17 cells in transplant rejection and tolerance. Curr Opin Organ Transplant 2010;15:411–5.
- [203] Yamaza T, Akiyama K, Chen C, Liu Y, Shi Y, Gronthos S, et al. Immunomodulatory properties of stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth. Stem Cell Res Ther 2010;1:5.
- [204] Kikuiri T, Kim I, Yamaza T, Akiyama K, Zhang Q, Li Y, et al. Cell-based immunotherapy with mesenchymal stem cells cures bisphosphonaterelated osteonecrosis of the jaw-like disease in mice. J Bone Miner Res 2010;25:1668–79.
- [205] Zhang Q, Shi S, Liu Y, Uyanne J, Shi Y, Shi S, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells derived from human gingiva are capable of immunomodulatory functions and ameliorate inflammation-related tissue destruction in experimental colitis. J Immunol 2009;183:7787–98.
- [206] El-Menoufy H, Aly LA, Aziz MT, Atta HM, Roshdy NK, Rashed LA, et al. The role of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells in treating formocresol induced oral ulcers in dogs. J Oral Pathol Med 2010;39:281–9.
- [207] Sakai K, Yamamoto A, Matsubara K, Nakamura S, Naruse M, Yamagata M, et al. Human dental pulp-derived stem cells promote locomotor recovery after complete transection of the rat spinal cord by multiple neuro-regenerative mechanisms. J Clin Invest 2012;122:80–90.

- [208] Abedini S, Kaku M, Kawata T, Koseki H, Kojima S, Sumi H, et al. Effects of cryopreservation with a newly-developed magnetic field programmed freezer on periodontal ligament cells and pulp tissues. Cryobiology 2011;62:181–7.
- [209] Arora V, Arora P, Munshi AK. Banking stem cells from human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHED): saving for the future. J Clin Pediatr Dent 2009;33:289–94.
- [210] Kaku M, Kamada H, Kawata T, Koseki H, Abedini S, Kojima S, et al. Cryopreservation of periodontal ligament cells with magnetic field for tooth banking. Cryobiology 2010;61:73–8.
- [211] Seo BM, Miura M, Sonoyama W, Coppe C, Stanyon R, Shi S. Recovery of stem cells from cryopreserved periodontal ligament. J Dent Res 2005;84:907–12.
- [212] Tirino V, Paino F, d'Aquino R, Desiderio V, De Rosa A, Papaccio G. Methods for the identification, characterization and banking of human DPSCs: current strategies and perspectives. Stem Cell Rev 2011;7:608–15.

- [213] Oh YH, Che ZM, Hong JC, Lee EJ, Lee SJ, Kim J. Cryopreservation of human teeth for future organization of a tooth bank – a preliminary study. Cryobiology 2005;51:322–9.
- [214] Ueda M, Yamada Y, Ozawa R, Okazaki Y. Clinical case reports of injectable tissue-engineered bone for alveolar augmentation with simultaneous implant placement. Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent 2005;25:129–37.
- [215] Ueda M, Yamada Y, Kagami H, Hibi H. Injectable bone applied for ridge augmentation and dental implant placement: human progress study. Implant Dent 2008;17:82–90.
- [216] Soltan M, Smiler D, Soltan C, Prasad HS, Rohrer MD. Bone grafting by means of a tunnel dissection: predictable results using stem cells and matrix. Implant Dent 2010;19:280–7.
- [217] Pelegrine AA, da Costa CE, Correa ME, Marques Jr JF. Clinical and histomorphometric evaluation of extraction sockets treated with an autologous bone marrow graft. Clin Oral Implants Res 2010;21: 535–42.